STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

October 25, 2023

DSS AmericaFirst Defensive Growth Fund Class A: DGQAX Class U: DGQUX Class I: DGQIX

DSS AmericaFirst Income Fund Class A: AFPAX Class U: AFPUX Class I: AFPIX

DSS AmericaFirst Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund Class A: ABRFX Class U: ABRUX Class I: ABRWX

DSS AmericaFirst Large Cap Share Buyback Fund Class A: SBQAX Class U: SBQUX Class I: SBQIX

Each a series of DSS AmericaFirst Quantitative Funds

275 Wiregrass Parkway, West Henrietta, NY 14586

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") is not a prospectus. It should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus, as may be supplemented from time to time, of the DSS AmericaFirst Defensive Growth Fund, DSS AmericaFirst Income Fund, DSS AmericaFirst Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund, and DSS AmericaFirst Large Cap Share Buyback Fund (each a "Fund" and together the "Funds") dated October 25, 2023, and as supplemented from time to time (the "Prospectus") and the Funds' Annual Report dated June 30, 2023 ("Annual Report"). The Prospectus is incorporated by reference into this SAI. The Funds are a separate series of DSS AmericaFirst Quantitative Funds (the "Trust"), an open-end management company organized as a Delaware statutory trust. The financial statements and notes contained in the <u>Annual Report</u> are incorporated by reference into this SAI. No other part of the Annual Report is hereby incorporated by reference. The Annual Report, Prospectus or the SAI can be obtained upon request and without charge by writing to the above address or calling 877-217-8501.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The DSS AmericaFirst Quantitative Funds	1
Investment Restrictions	1
Other Investment Policies	2
Additional Information About Investments and Risks	2
Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings	21
Trustees and Officers	23
Control Persons and Principal Shareholders	
Code of Ethics	
Transfer Agent, Fund Accounting Agent and Administrator	
Compliance Consultant	
Custodian	
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	
Counsel	
Distributor(s)	
Proxy Voting Policy	
Portfolio Transactions	
Purchase and Redemption Of Shares	
Reduction of Up-Front Sales Charge on Class A and Class U Shares	
Waivers of Up-Front Sales Charge on Class A and Class U Shares	
Net Asset Value	
Tax Information	
Investments in Foreign Securities	
Backup Withholding	40
Foreign Shareholders	40
Financial Statements	41
Appendix A	App-1
Appendix B	App-3

THE DSS AMERICAFIRST QUANTITATIVE FUNDS

DSS AmericaFirst Quantitative Funds ("the Trust"), a Delaware statutory trust, is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") as an open-end management investment company (or mutual fund). The Trust was formed by a Certificate of Trust on January 25, 2012. The Trust added DSS to its name effective as of January 4, 2022. The Trust Agreement permits the Trustees to issue an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest of separate series. The DSS AmericaFirst Defensive Growth Fund (the "Defensive Growth Fund"), DSS AmericaFirst Income Fund (the "Income Fund"), DSS AmericaFirst Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund (the "Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund"), and DSS AmericaFirst Large Cap Share Buyback Fund (the "Buyback Fund") are each a separate diversified series of the Trust.

The Defensive Growth Fund, Income Fund, and Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund previously operated as series of Mutual Fund Series Trust (the "Predecessor Funds"). On January 4, 2013, substantially all of the assets of each of the Predecessor Funds were transferred to the Defensive Growth Fund, Income Fund, Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund, respectively, in a tax-free reorganization (the "Reorganization"). As a result of the Reorganization, the performance and accounting history of the Predecessor Funds was assumed by the Defensive Growth Fund, Income Fund, and Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund, respectively. Financial and performance information included herein prior to January 4, 2013 is that of the Predecessor Funds.

The Trust does not issue share certificates. All shares are held in non-certificate form registered on the books of the Trust and the Trust's transfer agent for the account of the shareholder. Each share of a series represents an equal proportionate interest in the assets and liabilities belonging to the applicable class of that series and is entitled to such dividends and distributions out of income belonging to the applicable class of that series. The shares do not have cumulative voting rights or any preemptive or conversion rights, and the Trustees have the authority from time to time to divide or combine the shares of any series into a greater or lesser number of shares of that series so long as the proportionate beneficial interest in the assets belonging to that series and the rights of shares of any other series are in no way affected. In case of any liquidation of a series, the holders of shares of the series being liquidated will be entitled to receive as a class a distribution out of the assets values per share of the classes may differ. There can be no assurance that a series will grow to an economically viable size, in which case the Trustees may determine to liquidate the series at a time that may not be opportune for shareholders. Any general expenses of the Trust not readily identifiable as belonging to a particular series are allocated by or under the direction of the Trustees in such manner as the Trustees determine to be fair and equitable. No shareholder is liable to further calls or to assessment by the Trust without his or her express consent.

Each Fund offers multiple classes of shares: Class A, Class U and Class I Shares for the Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund, Income Fund, Defensive Growth Fund, and Buyback Fund. Each share class represents an interest in the same assets of the respective Fund, has the same rights and is identical in all material respects except that (i) each class of shares may bear different distribution fees; (ii) each class of shares may be subject to different (or no) sales charges; (iii) certain other class specific expenses will be borne solely by the class to which such expenses are attributable; and (iv) each class has exclusive voting rights with respect to matters relating to its own distribution arrangements. On any matter submitted to a vote of the shareholders, each shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each dollar (and fractional vote for each fractional dollar) of net asset value standing in such shareholder's name on the books of each Fund and Class in which such shareholder owns shares which are entitled to vote. The Board of Trustees may classify and reclassify the shares of the Funds into additional classes of shares at a future date.

DSS Wealth Management, Inc. ("DSS" or the "Advisor" or "advisor"), acts as investment advisor to the Funds.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The following investment restrictions are fundamental policies of the Funds and cannot be changed unless the change is approved by the lesser of (a) 67% or more of the shares present at a meeting of shareholders if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares of a Fund are present or represented by proxy or (b) more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares of a Fund.

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Funds may not:

(a) borrow money, except as permitted under the 1940 Act, and as interpreted or modified by regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time;

(b) issue senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act, and as interpreted or modified by regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time;

(c) engage in the business of underwriting securities issued by others, except to the extent that a Fund may be deemed to be an underwriter in connection with the disposition of portfolio securities;

(d) purchase or sell real estate, which does not include securities of companies which deal in real estate or mortgages or investments secured by real estate or interests therein, except that the Funds reserve freedom of action to hold and to sell real estate acquired as a result of the Fund's ownership of securities;

(e) purchase physical commodities or forward contracts relating to physical commodities;

(f) make loans to other persons, except (i) loans of portfolio securities, and (ii) to the extent that entry into repurchase agreements and the purchase of debt instruments or interests in indebtedness in accordance with a Fund's investment objective and policies may be deemed to be loans;

(g) invest 25% or more of its total assets in a particular industry or group of related industries other than other investment companies. The 25% limitation is not applicable to investments in obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies and instrumentalities or repurchase agreements with respect thereto.

OTHER INVESTMENT POLICIES

The following investment policies are not fundamental and may be changed by the Board without the approval of the shareholders of the Funds:

(a) The Funds will not purchase securities or evidences of interest thereon on "margin." This limitation is not applicable to short-term credit obtained by the Funds for the clearance of purchases and sales or redemption of securities, or to arrangements with respect to transactions involving futures contracts, and other permitted investments and techniques; and

(b) The Funds will not mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or in any manner transfer, as security for indebtedness, any assets of a Fund except as may be necessary in connection with permitted borrowings. Margin deposits, security interests, liens and collateral arrangements with respect to transactions involving options, futures contracts, short sales, securities lending and other permitted investments and techniques are not deemed to be a mortgage, pledge or hypothecation of assets for purposes of this limitation.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT INVESTMENTS AND RISKS

Unless restricted by the fundamental policies of the Funds, the following policies supplement the investment objective and policies of the Funds as set forth in the Prospectus.

Common Stocks. The Funds may invest in common stocks, which include the common stock of any class or series of domestic or foreign corporations or any similar equity interest, such as a trust or partnership interest. These investments may or may not pay dividends and may or may not carry voting rights. Common stock occupies the most junior position in a company's capital structure. The Funds may also invest in warrants and rights related to common stocks.

Investments in Small and Unseasoned Companies. Unseasoned and small companies may have limited or unprofitable operating histories, limited financial resources, and inexperienced management. In addition, they often face competition from larger or more established firms that have greater resources. Securities of small and unseasoned companies are frequently traded in the over-the-counter market or on regional exchanges where low trading volumes may result in erratic or abrupt price movements. To dispose of these securities, the Funds may need to sell them over an extended period or below the original purchase price. Investments by the Funds in these small or unseasoned companies may be regarded as speculative.

Securities of Other Investment Companies. The Funds may invest in securities issued by other investment companies. Each Fund intends to limit its investments in accordance with applicable law or as permitted by an SEC rule or exemptive order. Among other things, such law would limit these investments so that, as determined immediately after a securities purchase is made by the Fund: (a) not more than 5% of the value of its total assets will be invested in the securities of any one investment company (the "5% Limitation"); (b) not more than 10% of the value of its total assets will be invested in the aggregate in securities of investment companies as a group (the "10% Limitation"); (c) not more than 3% of the outstanding voting stock of any one investment company will be owned by the Fund; and (d) not more than 10% of the outstanding voting stock of any one closed-end investment company will be owned by the Fund together with all other investment companies that have the same advisor. Under certain sets of conditions, different sets of restrictions may be applicable. As a shareholder of another investment company, each Fund would bear, along with other shareholders, its pro rata portion of that investment company's expenses, including advisory fees. These expenses would be in addition to the advisory and other

expenses that the Fund bears directly in connection with its own operations. Investment companies in which the Funds may invest may also impose a sales or distribution charge in connection with the purchase or redemption of their Shares and other types of commissions or charges. Such charges will be payable by the Fund and, therefore, will be borne directly by Shareholders. The Funds may also rely upon Rule 12d1-4, which under certain conditions allows them to exceed the 3%, 5%, and 10% described above.

The Funds may rely on Rule 12d1-3, which allows unaffiliated mutual funds to exceed the 5% Limitation and the 10% Limitation, provided the aggregate sales loads any investor pays (i.e., the combined distribution expenses of both the acquiring fund and the acquired funds) does not exceed the limits on sales loads established by FINRA for funds of funds.

The Funds intend to rely on Section 12(d)(1)(G) under the Investment Company Act of 1940 to invest in other investment companies (including registered unit investment trusts) beyond the above-described limits to the extent the other investment companies (including registered unit investment trusts) are members of the same group of investment companies.

Exchange Traded Funds. The Funds may invest in a range of exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"). An ETF is an investment company that offers investors a proportionate share in a portfolio of stocks, bonds, commodities, currencies or other securities. Like individual equity securities, ETFs are traded on a stock exchange and can be bought and sold throughout the day. Traditional ETFs attempt to achieve the same investment return as that of a particular market index, such as the Standard & Poor's 500 Index. To mirror the performance of a market index, an ETF invests either in all of the securities in the index or a representative sample of securities in the index. Some ETFs also invest in futures contracts or other derivative instruments to track their benchmark index. Unlike traditional indexes, which generally weight their holdings based on relative size (market capitalization), enhanced or fundamentally weighted indexes use weighting structures that include other criteria such as earnings, sales, growth, liquidity, book value or dividends. Some ETFs also use active investment strategies instead of tracking broad market indexes. Investments in ETFs are considered to be investment companies, see "Securities of Other Investment Companies" above.

When a Fund invests in ETFs, it is subject to the specific risks of the underlying investment of the ETF. These risks could include those associated with small companies, illiquidity risk, sector risk, foreign and emerging market risk, as well as risks associated with fixed income securities, real estate investments, and commodities. ETFs in which the Fund invests will not be able to replicate exactly the performance of the indices or sector they track because the total return generated by the securities will be reduced by transaction costs incurred in adjusting the actual balance of the securities. In addition, the ETFs in which the Funds invest will incur expenses not incurred by their applicable indices. Certain securities comprising the indices tracked by the ETFs may, from time to time, temporarily be unavailable, which may further impede the ETFs' ability to track their applicable indices.

When a Fund invests in sector ETFs, there is a risk that securities within the same group of industries will decline in price due to sector-specific market or economic developments. If the Fund invests more heavily in a particular sector, the value of its shares may be especially sensitive to factors and economic risks that specifically affect that sector. As a result, the Fund's share price may fluctuate more widely than the value of shares of a mutual fund that invests in a broader range of industries. Additionally, some sectors could be subject to greater government regulation than other sectors. Therefore, changes in regulatory policies for those sectors may have a material effect on the value of securities issued by companies in those sectors. The sectors in which the Fund may be more heavily invested will vary.

To offset the risk of declining asset prices, the Funds may invest in inverse ETFs. Inverse ETFs are funds designed to rise in price when asset prices are falling. Inverse ETF index funds seek to provide investment results that will match the inverse of the performance of a specific benchmark on a daily basis. For example, if an inverse ETFs current benchmark is the inverse of the Russell 2000 Index and the ETF meets its objective, the value of the ETF will tend to increase on a daily basis when the value of the underlying index decreases (e.g., if the Russell 2000 Index goes down 5% then the inverse ETF's value should go up 5%).

The Funds may also invest in leveraged ETFs. A leveraged ETF typically uses daily futures contracts to magnify the exposure to a particular index. It does not amplify the annual returns of an index; instead, it follows the daily changes. Using the example of a leveraged fund with a 2:1 ratio, this would mean that each dollar of investor capital used is matched with an additional dollar of invested debt. During a given day, if the underlying index returns 1%, the fund would theoretically return 2%. The 2% return is theoretical, as management fees and transaction costs diminish the full effects of leverage. Leveraged ETFs may also be inverse ETFS.

Under the 1940 Act, a Fund may not acquire shares of another investment company (ETFs or other investment companies) if, immediately after such acquisition, the Fund and its affiliated persons would hold more than 3% of the ETF's or investment company's total outstanding stock ("3% Limitation"). Accordingly, a Fund is subject to the 3% Limitation unless: (i) the ETF or the Fund has received an order for exemptive relief from the 3% Limitation from the SEC that is applicable to the Fund; and (ii) the ETF and the Fund take appropriate steps to comply with any conditions in such order. The SEC has issued such an exemptive order to iShares Trust and iShares, Inc. which permits investment companies to invest in the various series of the iShares Trust and iShares, Inc. ("iShares Funds") beyond the 3% Limitation, subject to certain terms and conditions, including that such investment companies enter into an agreement with the iShares Funds. The Fund may seek to qualify to invest in iShares Funds in excess of the 3% Limitation.

To the extent the 3% Limitation applies to certain ETFs, that limitation may prevent a Fund from allocating its investments in the manner that the Fund's advisor, considers optimal, or cause the Fund to select a similar index or sector-based mutual fund or other investment company ("Other Investment Companies"), or a similar basket of stocks (a group of securities related by index or sector that are pre-selected by, and made available through, certain brokers at a discounted brokerage rate) ("Stock Baskets") as an alternative. The Funds may also invest in Other Investment Companies or Stock Baskets when the advisor believes they represent more attractive opportunities than similar ETFs. The Funds' investments in Other Investment Companies will be subject to the same 3% Limitation described above. The Funds may also rely upon Rule 12d1-4 to invest in ETFs, which under certain conditions allows the Funds to exceed the 3%, 5%, and 10% described above.

Closed-End Investment Companies. The Funds may invest in "closed-end" investment companies (or "closed-end funds"), subject to the investment restrictions set forth below. Each Fund, together with any company or companies controlled by the Fund, and any other investment companies having a sub-adviser as an investment adviser, may purchase only up to 10% of the total outstanding voting stock of any closed-end fund. Typically, the common shares of closed-end funds are offered to the public in a one-time initial public offering by a group of underwriters who retain a spread or underwriting commission. Such securities are then listed for trading on a national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter markets. Because the common shares of closed-end funds cannot be redeemed upon demand to the issuer like the shares of an open-end investment company (such as the Funds), investors seek to buy and sell common shares of closed-end funds in the secondary market. The common shares of closed-end funds may trade at a price per share which is more or less than the NAV per share, the difference representing the "market premium" and the "market discount" of such common shares, respectively.

There can be no assurance that a market discount on common shares of any closed-end fund will ever decrease. In fact, it is possible that this market discount may increase and the Funds may suffer realized or unrealized capital losses due to further decline in the market price of the securities of such closed-end funds, thereby adversely affecting the NAV of that fund's shares. Similarly, there can be no assurance that the common shares of closed-end funds which trade at a premium will continue to trade at a premium or that the premium will not decrease subsequent to a purchase of such shares by the Funds. The Funds may also invest in preferred shares of closed-end funds.

Some closed-end funds are business development companies ("BDCs"). BDCs may carry risks similar development to those of a private equity or venture capital fund. BDCs company risk are not redeemable at the option of the shareholder and they may trade in the market at a discount to their net asset value. A BDC is a form of investment company that is required to invest at least 70% of its total assets in securities (typically debt) of private companies, thinly traded U.S. public companies, or short-term high quality debt securities. BDCs usually trade at a discount to their net asset value because they invest in unlisted securities and have limited access to capital markets. BDCs may leverage their portfolios through borrowings or the issuance of preferred stock. While leverage often serves to increase the yield of a BDC, this leverage also subjects a BDC to increased risks, including the likelihood of increased volatility and the possibility that a BDC's common share income will fall if the dividend rate of the preferred shares or the interest rate on any borrowings rises.

An investor in the Funds should recognize that he may invest directly in closed-end funds and that by investing in closed-end funds indirectly through the Fund he will bear not only his proportionate share of the expenses of the Fund (including operating costs and investment advisory and administrative fees) but also, indirectly, similar fees of the underlying closed-end funds. An investor may incur increased tax liabilities by investing in the Funds rather than directly in the underlying funds.

Options on Securities. The Funds may purchase call and put options and write call options and put options. Option transactions can be executed either on a national exchange or through a private transaction with a broker-dealer (an "over-the-counter" transaction). Also, the Funds may write (sell) "covered" call options and purchase options in a spread to hedge (cover) written options, and to close out options previously written by it.

A call option gives the holder (buyer) the "right to purchase" a security at a specified price (the exercise price) at any time until a certain date (the expiration date). So long as the obligation of the writer (seller) of a call option continues, the writer may be assigned an exercise notice by the broker-dealer through whom such option was sold, requiring the writer to deliver the underlying security against payment of the exercise price. This obligation terminates upon the expiration of the call option, or such earlier time at which the writer effects a closing purchase transaction by purchasing an option identical to that previously sold. To secure the obligation to deliver the underlying security upon exercise of a call option subject to the Options Clearing Corporation ("OCC"), a writer is required to deposit in escrow the underlying security or other assets in accordance with the OCC rules.

The purpose of writing covered or uncovered call options is to generate additional premium income for the Funds. This premium income will serve to enhance a Fund's total return and will reduce the effect of any price decline of the security involved in the option. Covered call options will generally be written on securities which, in the option of the advisor, are not expected to make any major price moves in the near future but which, over the long term, are deemed to be attractive investments for the Funds.

If a Fund writes a call option, the purchaser of the option has the right to buy (and the Fund has the obligation to sell) the underlying security at the exercise price throughout the term of the option. The initial amount paid to the Fund by the purchaser of the option is the "premium." A Fund's obligation as the writer of a call option to deliver the underlying security against payment of the exercise price will terminate either upon expiration of the option or earlier if the Fund is able to effect a "closing purchase transaction" through the purchase of an equivalent option. There can be no assurance that a closing purchase transaction can be effected at any particular time or at all. The Funds would not be able to effect a closing purchase transaction after it had received notice of exercise. Fund securities on which call options may be written will be purchased solely on the basis of investment considerations consistent with the Fund's investment objective. The writing of covered call options is a conservative investment technique believed to involve relatively little risk, but capable of enhancing the Fund's total return. When writing a covered call option, the Fund, in return for the premium, gives up the opportunity for profit from a price increase in the underlying security above the exercise price, but retains the risk of loss should the price of the security decline. Unlike one who owns securities not subject to an option, a Fund has no control over when the Fund may be required to sell the underlying securities, since it may be assigned an exercise notice at any time prior to the expiration of its obligation as a writer. If a call option which the Fund has written expires, the Fund will realize a gain in the amount of the premium; however, such gain may be offset by a decline in the market value of the underlying security during the option period. If the call option is exercised, the Fund will realize a gain or loss from the sale of the underlying security.

The premium received is the market value of an option. The premium a Fund will receive from writing a call option will reflect, among other things, the current market price of the underlying security, the relationship of the exercise price to such market price, the historical price volatility of the underlying security, and the length of the option period. Once the decision to write a call option has been made, the advisor, in determining whether a particular call option should be written on a particular security, will consider the reasonableness of the anticipated premium and the likelihood that a liquid secondary market will exist for such option. The premium received by the Fund for writing covered call options will be recorded as a liability in the Fund's statement of assets and liabilities. This liability will be adjusted daily to the option's current market value which is the mean of the closing bid and asked prices, after closing rotation is completed, the closing prices as of the time at which the net asset value per share of the Fund is computed (the close of the New York Stock Exchange). The liability will be extinguished upon expiration of the option, the purchase of an identical option in a closing transaction, or delivery of the underlying security upon the exercise of the option.

Closing transactions will be effected in order to realize a profit on an outstanding call option, to prevent an underlying security from being called, or to permit the sale of the underlying security. Furthermore, effecting a closing transaction will permit the Funds to write another call option on the underlying security with either a different exercise price or expiration date or both. If a Fund desires to sell a particular security from its portfolio on which it has written a call option, and it does not wish to segregate cash or other liquid assets equal in value to the exercise liability of the option adjusted daily to the option's current market value, the Fund will seek to effect a closing transaction prior to, or concurrently with, the sale of the security. There is, of course, no assurance that the Funds will be able to effect such closing transactions at a favorable price. If the Fund cannot effect such a closing transaction, and it does not wish to segregate cash or other liquid assets equal in value to the exercise liability of the option adjusted daily to the option adjusted daily to the option's current market value, the fund will be able to effect such closing transactions at a favorable price. If the Fund cannot effect such a closing transaction, and it does not wish to segregate cash or other liquid assets equal in value to the exercise liability of the option adjusted daily to the option's current market value, the Fund may be required to hold a security that it might otherwise have sold, in which case it would continue to be at market risk on the security. The Funds will pay transaction costs in connection with the writing of options to close out previously written options. Such transaction costs are normally higher than those applicable to purchases and sales of portfolio securities.

Call options written by the Funds will normally have expiration dates of less than nine months from the date written. The exercise price of the options may be below, equal to, or above the current market values of the underlying securities at the time the options are written. From time to time, the Funds may purchase an underlying security for delivery in accordance with an exercise notice of a call option assigned to the Funds, rather than delivering such security from its portfolio. In such cases, additional costs will be incurred.

The Funds will realize a profit or loss from a closing purchase transaction if the cost of the transaction is less or more than the premium received from the writing of the option. It is possible that the cost of effecting a closing transaction may be greater than the premium received by the Funds for writing the option. Because increases in the market price of a call option will generally reflect increases in the market price of the underlying security, any loss resulting from the purchase of a call option is likely to be offset in whole or in part by appreciation of the underlying security owned by the Fund.

In order to write a call option, the Funds are required to comply with the OCC rules and the rules of the various exchanges with respect to collateral requirements.

The Funds may also purchase put options so long as they are listed on an exchange. If a Fund purchases a put option, it has the option to sell the subject security at a specified price at any time during the term of the option.

Purchasing put options may be used as a portfolio investment strategy when the advisor perceives significant short-term risk but substantial long-term appreciation for the underlying security. The put option acts as an insurance policy, as it protects against significant downward price movement while it allows full participation in any upward movement. If a Fund is holding a stock that the advisor feels has strong fundamentals, but for some reason may be weak in the near term, it may purchase a listed put on such security, thereby giving itself the right to sell such security at a certain strike price throughout the term of the option. Consequently, the Funds will exercise the put only if the price of such security falls below the strike price of the put. The difference between the put option's strike price and the market price of the underlying security on the date the Fund exercises the put, less transaction costs, will be the amount by which the Fund will be able to hedge against a decline in the underlying security. If, during the period of the option the market price for the underlying security remains at or above the put option's strike price, the put will expire worthless, representing a loss of the price the Fund paid for the put, plus transaction costs. If the price of the underlying security increases, the profit the Fund realizes on the sale of the security will be reduced by the premium paid for the put option less any amount for which the put may be sold.

The Funds may write put options. If a Fund writes a put option, the purchaser of the option has the right to sell (and the Fund has the obligation to buy) the underlying security at the exercise price throughout the term of the option. The initial amount paid to the Fund by the purchaser of the option is the "premium." The Fund's obligation to purchase the underlying security against payment of the exercise price will terminate either upon expiration of the option or earlier if the Fund is able to effect a "closing purchase transaction" through the purchase of an equivalent option. There can be no assurance that a closing purchase transaction can be effected at any particular time or at all.

The Funds may purchase a call option or sell a put option on a stock (including securities of ETFs) it may purchase at some point in the future. The purchase of a call option or sale of a put option is viewed as an alternative to the purchase of the actual stock. The number of option contracts purchased multiplied by the exercise price times the option multiplier will normally not be any greater than the number of shares that would have been purchased had the underlying security been purchased. If a Fund purchases a call option, it has the right but not the obligation to purchase (and the seller has the obligation to sell) the underlying security at the exercise price throughout the term of the option. The initial amount paid by the Fund to the seller of the call option is known as the "premium." If during the period of the option the market price of the underlying security remains at or below the exercise price, the Fund will be able to purchase the security at the lower market price. The profit or loss the Fund may realize on the eventual sale of a security purchased by means of the exercise of a call option will be reduced by the premium paid for the call option. If, during the period of the call option, the market price for the underlying security is at or below the call option is strike price, the call option will expire worthless, representing a loss of the price the Fund paid for the call option, plus transaction costs.

Stock Index Options. When a Fund writes a call option on a broadly-based stock market index, it will segregate with its custodian, and/or pledge to a broker as collateral for the option.

Risks of Transactions in Stock Options. Purchase and sales of options involves the risk that there will be no market in which to effect a closing transaction. An option position may be closed out only on an exchange that provides a secondary market for an option of the same series or if the transaction was an over-the-counter transaction, through the original broker-dealer. Although the Funds will generally buy and sell options for which there appears to be an active secondary market, there is no assurance that a liquid secondary market on an exchange will exist for any particular option, or at any particular time, and for some options no secondary market on an exchange may exist.

Risks of Options on Stock Indexes. The Funds' purchase and sale of options on stock indexes will be subject to risks described above under "Risks of Transactions in Stock Options." In addition, the distinctive characteristics of options on stock indexes create certain risks that are not present with stock options.

Since the value of a stock index option depends upon the movements in the level of the stock index, rather than the price of a particular stock, whether the Fund will realize a gain or loss on the purchase or sale of an option on a stock index depends upon movements in the level of stock prices in the stock market generally or in an industry or market segment rather than movements in the price of a particular stock. Accordingly, successful use by the Funds of options on stock indexes is subject to the advisor's ability to correctly predict movements in the direction of the stock market generally or of a particular industry or market segment. This requires skills and techniques different from predicting changes in the price of individual stocks.

Stock index prices may be distorted if trading of certain stocks included in the stock index is interrupted. Trading in the stock index options also may be interrupted in certain circumstances, such as if trading were halted in a substantial number of stocks included in the stock index. If this occurred, a Fund would not be able to close out options that it had purchased or written and, if restrictions on exercise were imposed, might not be able to exercise an option that it was holding, which could result in substantial losses to the Fund. It is the policy of the Funds to purchase or write options only on stock indexes that include a number of stocks sufficient to minimize the likelihood of a trading halt in the stock index, for example, the S&P 100 or S&P 500 index option.

Trading in stock index options commenced in April 1983 with the S&P 100 option (formerly called the CBOE 100). Since that time, a number of additional stock index option contracts have been introduced, including options on industry stock indexes. Although the markets for certain stock index option contracts have developed rapidly, the markets for other stock index options are still relatively

illiquid. The ability to establish and close out positions on such options will be subject to the development and maintenance of a liquid secondary market. It is not certain that this market will develop in all stock index option contracts. The Funds will not purchase or sell stock index option contracts unless and until, in the advisor's opinion, the market for such options has developed sufficiently that the risk in connection with these transactions is no greater than the risk in connection with options on stock.

Hedging. Hedging is a means of transferring risk that an investor does not wish to assume during an uncertain market environment. Each Fund is permitted to enter into these transactions: (a) to hedge against changes in the market value of portfolio securities and against changes in the market value of securities intended to be purchased, (b) to close out or offset existing positions, or (c) to manage the duration of a portfolio's fixed income investments.

Hedging activity in the Funds may include buying or selling (writing) put or call options on stocks, shares of exchange traded funds ("ETFs") or stock indexes, entering into stock index futures contracts or buying or selling options on stock index futures contracts or financial futures contracts, such as futures contracts on U.S. Treasury securities and interest related indices, and options on financial futures. The Funds will buy or sell options on stock index futures traded on a national exchange or board of trade and options on securities and on stock indexes traded on national securities exchanges or through private transactions directly with a broker-dealer. The Fund may hedge a portion of its portfolio by selling stock index futures contracts or purchasing puts on these contracts to limit exposure to an actual or anticipated market decline. The Fund may hedge against fluctuations in currency exchange rates, in connection with its investments in foreign securities, by purchasing foreign forward currency exchange contracts. All hedging transactions must be appropriate for reduction of risk and they cannot be for speculation.

The Funds may engage in transactions in futures contracts and options on futures contracts. The Advisor, with respect to each Fund, has filed with the National Futures Association, a notice claiming an exclusion from the definition of the term "commodity pool operator" under the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended, and Rule 4.5 of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission promulgated thereunder, with respect to each Fund's operations. Accordingly, neither the Funds nor the Advisor are subject to registration or regulation as a commodity pool operator.

Convertible Securities. The Funds may invest in convertible securities, including debt securities or preferred stock that may be converted into common stock or that carry the right to purchase common stock. Convertible securities entitle the holder to exchange the securities for a specified number of shares of common stock, usually of the same company, at specified prices within a certain period of time. They also entitle the holder to receive interest or dividends until the holder elects to exercise the conversion privilege.

The terms of any convertible security determine its ranking in a company's capital structure. In the case of subordinated convertible debentures, the holder's claims on assets and earnings are generally subordinate to the claims of other creditors, and senior to the claims of preferred and common stockholders. In the case of convertible preferred stock, the holder's claims on assets and earnings are subordinate to the claims of all creditors and are senior to the claims of common stockholders. As a result of their ranking in a company's capitalization, convertible securities that are rated by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations are generally rated below other obligations of the company and many convertible securities are not rated.

Preferred Stock. The Funds may invest in preferred stock. Preferred stock, unlike common stock, offers a stated dividend rate payable from the issuer's earnings. Preferred stock dividends may be cumulative or non-cumulative, participating, or auction rate. If interest rates rise, the fixed dividend on preferred stocks may be less attractive, causing the price of the preferred stocks to decline. Preferred stock may have mandatory sinking fund provisions, as well as call/redemption provisions prior to maturity, a negative feature when interest rates decline.

Warrants. The Funds may invest in warrants. The Funds may purchase warrants issued by domestic and foreign companies to purchase newly created equity securities consisting of common and preferred stock. Warrants are securities that give the holder the right, but not the obligation to purchase equity issues of the company issuing the warrants, or a related company, at a fixed price either on a date certain or during a set period. The equity security underlying a warrant is authorized at the time the warrant is issued or is issued together with the warrant.

Investing in warrants can provide a greater potential for profit or loss than an equivalent investment in the underlying security, and, thus, can be a speculative investment. At the time of issue, the cost of a warrant is substantially less than the cost of the underlying security itself, and price movements in the underlying security are generally magnified in the price movements of the warrant. This leveraging effect enables the investor to gain exposure to the underlying security with a relatively low capital investment. This leveraging increases an investor's risk, however, in the event of a decline in the value of the underlying security and can result in a complete loss of the amount invested in the warrant. In addition, the price of a warrant tends to be more volatile than, and may not correlate exactly to, the price of the underlying security is below the exercise price of the warrant on its expiration date, the warrant will generally expire without value. The value of a warrant may decline because of a decline in the value of the underlying security, the passage of time, changes in interest rates or in the dividend or other policies of the company whose equity

underlies the warrant or a change in the perception as to the future price of the underlying security, or any combination thereof. Warrants generally pay no dividends and confer no voting or other rights other than to purchase the underlying security.

United States Government Obligations. The Funds may invest in obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States Government, or by its agencies or instrumentalities. Obligations issued or guaranteed by federal agencies or instrumentalities may or may not be backed by the "full faith and credit" of the United States. Securities that are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States include Treasury bills, Treasury notes, Treasury bonds, and obligations of the Government National Mortgage Association, the Farmers Home Administration, and the Export-Import Bank. In the case of securities not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, the Fund must look principally to the agency issuing or guaranteeing the obligation for ultimate repayment and may not be able to assert a claim against the United States itself in the event the agency or instrumentality does not meet its commitments. Securities that are not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States include, but are not limited to, obligations of the Tennessee Valley Authority, the Federal National Mortgage Association and the United States Postal Service, each of which has the right to borrow from the United States Treasury to meet its obligations, and obligations of the Federal Farm Credit System and the Federal Home Loan Banks, both of whose obligations may be satisfied only by the individual credits of each issuing agency.

Foreign Government Obligations. The Funds may invest in obligations of foreign sovereign governments or of their agencies, instrumentalities, authorities or political subdivisions. These securities may be denominated in United States dollars or in another currency. Sovereign debt may be issued by foreign developed and emerging market governments and their respective sub-divisions, agencies or instrumentalities, government sponsored enterprises and supranational government entities. Supranational entities include international organizations that are organized or supported by one or more government entities to promote economic reconstruction or development and by international banking institutions and related governmental agencies. Investment in sovereign debt can involve a high degree of risk. The governmental entity that controls the repayment of sovereign debt may not be able or willing to repay the principal and/or interest when due in accordance with the terms of the debt. A governmental entity's willingness or ability to repay principal and interest due in a timely manner may be affected by, among other factors, its cash flow situation, the extent of its foreign reserves, the availability of sufficient foreign exchange on the date a payment is due, the relative size of the debt service burden to the economy as a whole, the governmental entity's policy toward the International Monetary Fund, and the political constraints to which a governmental entity may be subject. Governmental entities also may depend on expected disbursements from foreign governments, multilateral agencies and others to reduce principal and interest arrearages on their debt. The commitment on the part of these governments, agencies and others to make such disbursements may be conditioned on a governmental entity's implementation of economic reforms and/or economic performance and the timely service of such debtor's obligations. Failure to implement such reforms, achieve such levels of economic performance or repay principal or interest when due may result in the cancellation of such third parties' commitments to lend funds to the governmental entity, which may further impair such debtor's ability or willingness to service its debts in a timely manner. Consequently, governmental entities may decide to default on their sovereign debt in whole or in part. Holders of sovereign debt (including a Fund) may be requested to participate in the rescheduling of such debt and to extend further loans to governmental entities. There is no known bankruptcy proceeding by which sovereign debt on which governmental entities have defaulted may be collected in whole or in part. See also "Foreign Investment Risk."

Bank Obligations. The Funds may invest in bank obligations such as bankers' acceptances, certificates of deposit, and time deposits.

Bankers' acceptances are negotiable drafts or bills of exchange typically drawn by an importer or exporter to pay for specific merchandise, which are "accepted" by a bank, meaning, in effect, that the bank unconditionally agrees to pay the face value of the instrument on maturity. Investments will be in bankers' acceptances guaranteed by domestic and foreign banks having, at the time of investment, capital, surplus, and undivided profits in excess of \$100,000,000 (as of the date of their most recently published financial statements).

Certificates of deposit are negotiable certificates issued against funds deposited in a commercial bank or a savings and loan association for a definite period of time and earning a specified return.

Commercial Paper. Commercial paper consists of unsecured promissory notes, including Master Notes, issued by corporations. Issues of commercial paper normally have maturities of less than nine months and fixed rates of return. Master Notes, however, are obligations that provide for a periodic adjustment in the interest rate paid and permit daily changes in the amount borrowed.

Master Notes are governed by agreements between the issuer and the advisor acting as agent, for no additional fee, in its capacity as advisor to the Fund and as fiduciary for other clients for whom it exercises investment discretion. The monies loaned to the borrower come from accounts maintained with or managed by the advisor or its affiliates pursuant to arrangements with such accounts. Interest and principal payments are credited to such accounts. The advisor, acting as a fiduciary on behalf of its clients, has the right to increase or decrease the amount provided to the borrower under an obligation. The borrower has the right to pay without penalty all or any part of the principal amount then outstanding on an obligation together with interest to the date of payment. Since these obligations typically provide that the interest rate is tied to the Treasury bill auction rate, the rate on Master Notes is subject to change. Repayment

of Master Notes to participating accounts depends on the ability of the borrower to pay the accrued interest and principal of the obligation on demand which is continuously monitored by the advisor. Master Notes typically are not rated by credit rating agencies.

The Funds may purchase commercial paper consisting of issues rated at the time of purchase within the three highest rating categories by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization (an "NRSRO"). The Fund may also invest in commercial paper that is not rated but is determined by the Advisor, under guidelines established by the Trust's Board of Trustees, to be of comparable quality.

Other Fixed Income Securities. Other fixed income securities in which the Funds may invest include nonconvertible preferred stocks and nonconvertible corporate debt securities.

The Funds may invest in short-term investments (including repurchase agreements "collateralized fully," as provided in Rule 2a-7 under the 1940 Act; interest-bearing or discounted commercial paper, including dollar denominated commercial paper of foreign issuers; and any other taxable and tax-exempt money market instruments, including variable rate demand notes, that are "Eligible Securities" as defined in Rule 2a-7 under the 1940 Act).

Variable Amount Master Demand Notes. Variable amount master demand notes are unsecured demand notes that permit the indebtedness thereunder to vary and provide for periodic readjustments in the interest rate according to the terms of the instrument. They are also referred to as variable rate demand notes. Because master demand notes are direct lending arrangements between the Fund and the issuer, they are not normally traded. Although there is no secondary market in the notes, the Funds may demand payment of principal and accrued interest at any time or during specified periods not exceeding one year, depending upon the instrument involved, and may resell the note at any time to a third party. The advisor will consider the earning power, cash flow, and other liquidity ratios of the issuers of such notes and will continuously monitor their financial status and ability to meet payment on demand.

Variable and Floating Rate Notes. A variable rate note is one whose terms provide for the readjustment of its interest rate on set dates and which, upon such readjustment, can reasonably be expected to have a market value that approximates its par value. A floating rate note is one whose terms provide for the readjustment of its interest rate whenever a specified interest rate changes and which, at any time, can reasonably be expected to have a market value that approximates its par value. Such notes are frequently not rated by credit rating agencies. These notes must satisfy the same quality standards as commercial paper investments. Unrated variable and floating rate notes purchased by a Fund must be determined by the Advisor under guidelines approved by the Trust's Board of Trustees to be of comparable quality at the time of purchase to rated instruments eligible for purchase under the Fund's investment policies. In making such determinations, the advisor will consider the earning power, cash flow and other liquidity ratios of the issuers of such notes (such issuers include financial, merchandising, bank holding and other companies) and will continuously monitor their financial condition. Although there may be no active secondary market with respect to a particular variable or floating rate note purchased by a Fund to dispose of a variable or floating rate note in the event the issuer of the note defaulted on its payment obligations and the Fund could, as a result or for other reasons, suffer a loss to the extent of the default. Variable or floating rate notes may be secured by bank letters of credit.

Foreign Investments. The Funds may invest in certain obligations or securities of foreign issuers. Certain of these investments may be in the form of American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"), European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs"), Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs"), other similar depositary receipts, and exchange traded funds ("ETFs") or other investment companies that invest in foreign securities, Yankee Obligations, and U.S. dollar-denominated securities issued by foreign branches of U.S. and foreign banks. Foreign investments may subject the Funds to investment risks that differ in some respects from those related to investment in obligations of U.S. domestic issuers. Such risks include future adverse political and economic developments, possible seizure, nationalization, or expropriation of foreign investments, less stringent disclosure requirements, the possible establishment of exchange controls or taxation at the source or other taxes, and the adoption of other foreign governmental restrictions.

Additional risks include less publicly available information, less government supervision and regulation of foreign securities exchanges, brokers and issuers, the risk that companies may not be subject to the accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and requirements of U.S. companies, the risk that foreign securities markets may have less volume and that therefore many securities traded in these markets may be less liquid and their prices more volatile than U.S. securities, and the risk that custodian and brokerage costs may be higher. Foreign issuers of securities or obligations are often subject to accounting treatment and engage in business practices different from those respecting domestic issuers of similar securities or obligations. Foreign branches of U.S. banks and foreign banks may be subject to less stringent reserve requirements than those applicable to domestic branches of U.S. banks. Certain of these investments may subject the Fund to currency fluctuation risks.

Depositary Receipts. The Funds' investments may include securities of foreign issuers in the form of sponsored or unsponsored ADRs, GDRs and EDRs. ADRs are depositary receipts typically issued by a United State bank or trust company which evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a foreign corporation. EDRs and GDRs are typically issued by foreign banks or trust companies, although they also may be issued by United States banks or trust companies, and evidence ownership of underlying securities

issued by either a foreign or a United States corporation. Generally, depositary receipts in registered form are designed for use in the United States securities market and depositary receipts in bearer form are designed for use in securities markets outside the United States Depositary receipts may not necessarily be denominated in the same currency as the underlying securities into which they may be converted. Ownership of unsponsored depositary receipts may not entitle the Funds to financial or other reports from the issuer of the underlying security, to which it would be entitled as the owner of sponsored depositary receipts.

Emerging Markets. The Funds may invest in securities of issuers located in "emerging markets" (lesser developed countries located outside of the U.S.) or ETFs or other investment companies that invest in emerging market securities. Investing in emerging markets involves not only the risks described above with respect to investing in foreign securities, but also other risks, including exposure to economic structures that are generally less diverse and mature than, and to political systems that can be expected to have less stability than, those of developed countries. For example, many investments in emerging markets experienced significant declines in value due to political and currency volatility in emerging markets countries during the latter part of 1997 and the first half of 1998. Other characteristics of emerging markets that may affect investment include certain national policies that may restrict investment by foreigners in issuers or industries deemed sensitive to relevant national interests and the absence of developed structures governing private and foreign investments and private property. The typically small size of the markets of securities of issuers located in emerging markets and the possibility of a low or nonexistent volume of trading in those securities may also result in a lack of liquidity and in price volatility of those securities.

Brady Bonds. The Funds may invest in "Brady Bonds," which are issued by certain Latin American countries in connection with restructurings of their debt. The Brady Bonds are issued in exchange for cash and certain of the country's outstanding commercial bank loans. Brady Bonds do not have a long payment history and, due to the loan default record for Latin American public and private entities, may be considered speculative investments. They may be collateralized or uncollateralized and are issued in various currencies. They are actively traded in the over-the-counter secondary market for debt of Latin American issuers.

When-Issued and Delayed Delivery Securities. The Funds may purchase securities on a when-issued or delayed delivery basis. Delivery of and payment for these securities may take as long as a month or more after the date of the purchase commitment. The value of these securities is subject to market fluctuation during this period and no interest or income accrues to the Fund until settlement. The Funds will maintain with the custodian a separate account with a segregated portfolio of liquid assets consisting of cash, U.S. Government securities or other liquid high-grade debt securities in an amount at least equal to these commitments. When entering into a when-issued or delayed delivery transaction, the Funds will rely on the other party to consummate the transaction; if the other party fails to do so, the Funds may be disadvantaged. It is the current policy of the Funds not to enter into when-issued commitments exceeding in the aggregate 25% of the market value of the Fund's total assets, less liabilities other than the obligations created by these commitments.

Lower Rated or Unrated Securities. Securities rated Baa by Moody's or BBB by S&P or lower, or deemed of comparable quality by the advisor, may have speculative characteristics. Securities rated below investment grade, *i.e.*, below Baa or BBB, or deemed of comparable quality by the Advisor, have higher yields but also involve greater risks than higher rated securities. Under guidelines used by rating agencies, securities rated below investment grade, or deemed of comparable quality, have large uncertainties or major risk exposures in the event of adverse conditions, which features outweigh any quality and protective characteristics. Securities with the lowest ratings are considered to have extremely poor prospects of ever attaining any real investment standing, to have a current identifiable vulnerability to default, to be unlikely to have the capacity to pay interest and repay principal when due in the event of adverse business, financial or economic conditions, and/or to be in default or not current in the payment of interest or principal. Such securities are considered speculative with respect to the issuer's capacity to pay interest and repay principal in accordance with the terms of the obligations. Accordingly, it is possible that these types of factors could, in certain instances, reduce the value of such securities held by a Fund with a commensurate effect on the value of its shares.

The secondary market for lower rated securities is not as liquid as that for higher rated securities. This market is concentrated in relatively few market makers and participants in the market are mostly institutional investors, including insurance companies, banks, other financial institutions and investment companies. In addition, the trading market for lower rated securities is generally lower than that for higher-rated securities, and the secondary markets could contract under adverse market or economic conditions independent of any specific adverse changes in the condition of a particular issuer. These factors may have an adverse effect on the Funds' ability to dispose of these securities and may limit its ability to obtain accurate market quotations for purposes of determining the value of its assets. If the Funds are not able to obtain precise or accurate market quotations for a particular security, it will become more difficult to value its portfolio, requiring them to rely more on judgment. Less liquid secondary markets may also affect the Funds' ability to sell securities at their fair value. The Funds may invest up to 15% of its net assets, measured at the time of investment, in illiquid securities, which may be more difficult to value and to sell at fair value. If the secondary markets for high yield debt securities are affected by adverse economic conditions, the proportion of the Funds' assets invested in illiquid securities may increase.

In the case of corporate debt securities, while the market values of securities rated below investment grade and comparable unrated securities tend to react less to fluctuations in interest rate levels than do those of higher-rated securities, the market values of certain of these securities also tend to be more sensitive to individual corporate developments and changes in economic conditions than higher-rated securities. Price volatility in these securities will be reflected in the Funds' share value. In addition, such securities generally present a higher degree of credit risk. Issuers of these securities often are highly leveraged and may not have more traditional methods of financing available to them, so that their ability to service their debt obligations during an economic downturn or during sustained periods of rising interest rates may be impaired. The risk of loss due to default by such issuers is significantly greater than with investment grade securities because such securities generally are unsecured and frequently are subordinated to the prior payment of senior indebtedness.

A description of the quality ratings of certain Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations (NSRSOs) is contained in Appendix A.

Zero Coupon Securities. The Funds may invest in "zero coupon" U.S. Treasury, foreign government and U.S. and foreign corporate convertible and nonconvertible debt securities, which are bills, notes and bonds that have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons and custodial receipts or certificates of participation representing interests in such stripped debt obligations and coupons. A zero coupon security pays no interest to its holder prior to maturity. Accordingly, such securities usually trade at a deep discount from their face or par value and will be subject to greater fluctuations of market value in response to changing interest rates than debt obligations of comparable maturities that make current distributions of interest. The Funds anticipate that they will not normally hold zero coupon securities to maturity. Redemption of shares of a Fund that require it to sell zero coupon securities prior to maturity may result in capital gains or losses that may be substantial. Federal tax law requires that a holder of a zero coupon security accrue a portion of the discount at which the security was purchased as income each year, even though the holder receives no interest payment on the security during the year. Such accrued discount will be includible in determining the amount of dividends the Funds must pay each year and, in order to generate cash necessary to pay such dividends, the Funds may liquidate portfolio securities at a time when it would not otherwise have done so.

Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts. The Funds may enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts in connection with its investments in foreign securities. A forward contract may be used by the Funds only to hedge against possible variations in exchange rates of currencies in countries in which it may invest. A forward foreign currency exchange contract ("forward contract") involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency at a future date, which may be any fixed number of days from the date of the contract agreed upon by the parties, at a price set at the time of the contract. Forward contracts are traded in the interbank market directly between currency traders (usually large commercial banks) and their customers. A forward contract generally has no deposit requirement, and no commissions are charged at any stage for trades.

Futures Contracts. The Funds may invest in futures contracts and options thereon (stock index futures contracts, interest rate futures contracts or currency futures contracts or options thereon) to hedge or manage risks associated with the Funds' securities investments. When a futures contract is executed, each party deposits with a futures commission merchant ("FCM") or broker, or in a segregated custodial account, a specified percentage of the contract amount, called the initial margin, and during the term of the contract, the amount of the deposit is adjusted based on the current value of the futures contract by payments of variation margin to or from the FCM or broker or segregated custodial account. In the case of options on futures, the holder of the option pays a premium and receives the right, upon exercise of the option at a specified price during the option period, to assume the option writer's position in the futures contract and related margin account. If the option is exercised on the last trading day, cash in an amount equal to the difference between the option exercise price and the closing level of the relevant index, interest rate or currency price, as applicable, on the expiration date is delivered.

To enter into a futures contract, an amount of cash, U.S. Government securities, or other liquid securities or assets (the margin requirement for the futures contract), is segregated with the broker and/or in a margin account with a FCM or broker, and this amount of cash or cash equivalents is adjusted daily to the current market value of the futures contract to collateralize the position.

Positions in futures contracts may be closed out only on an exchange that provides a secondary market for such futures. However, there can be no assurance that a liquid secondary market will exist for any particular futures contract at any specific time. Thus, it may not be possible to close a futures position. In the event of adverse price movements, a Fund would continue to be required to make daily cash payments to maintain its required margin. In such situations, if the Fund had insufficient cash, it might have to sell portfolio securities to meet daily margin requirements at a time when it would be disadvantageous to do so. In addition, the Fund might be required to make delivery of the instruments underlying futures contracts it holds. The inability to close positions in futures or options thereon also could have an adverse impact on the Fund's ability to hedge or manage risks effectively.

Successful use of futures by the Funds are also subject to the advisor's ability to predict movements correctly in the direction of the market. There is typically an imperfect correlation between movements in the price of the future and movements in the price of the securities that are the subject of the hedge. In addition, the price of futures may not correlate perfectly with movement in the cash market due to certain market distortions. Due to the possibility of price distortion in the futures market and because of the imperfect

correlation between the movements in the cash market and movements in the price of futures, a correct forecast of general market trends or interest rate movements by the advisor may still not result in a successful hedging transaction over a short time frame.

The trading of futures contracts is also subject to the risk of trading halts, suspension, exchange or clearing house equipment failures, government intervention, insolvency of a commodities or brokerage firm or clearing house or other disruption of normal trading activity, which could at times make it difficult or impossible to liquidate existing positions or to recover excess variation margin payments.

The purchase and sale of futures contracts or related options will not be a primary investment technique of the Funds. The Funds will purchase or sell futures contracts (or related options thereon) in accordance with the CFTC regulations described above.

Interest Rate Futures. The Funds may purchase an interest rate futures contract (possibly as a hedge against changes in interest rates). An interest rate futures contract provides for the future sale by one party and the purchase by the other party of a certain amount of a specific interest rate sensitive financial instrument (debt security) at a specified price, date, time and place. Generally, if market interest rates increase, the value of outstanding debt securities declines (and vice versa). Thus, if a Fund holds long-term debt obligations and the advisor anticipates a rise in long-term interest rates, the Fund could, instead of selling its debt obligations, enter into an interest rate futures contract for the sale of similar long-term securities. If interest rates rise, the value of the futures contract would also rise, helping to offset the price decline of the obligations held by the Fund. A Fund might also purchase futures contracts as a proxy for underlying securities that it cannot currently buy.

Stock Index Futures. The Funds may purchase and sell stock index futures contracts possibly as a hedge against changes resulting from market conditions in the values of securities that are held in its portfolio or that it intends to purchase or when such purchase or sale is economically appropriate for the reduction of risks inherent in the ongoing management of the Fund. A stock index futures contract is an agreement in which one party agrees to deliver to the other an amount of cash equal to a specific dollar amount times the difference between the value of a specific stock index at the close of the last trading day of the contract and the price at which the agreement is made.

Also, the Funds may hedge a portion of its portfolio by selling stock index futures contracts or purchasing puts on these contracts to limit exposure to an actual or anticipated market decline. This provides an alternative to liquidation of securities positions. Conversely, during a market advance or when the advisor anticipates an advance, a Fund may hedge a portion of its portfolio by purchasing stock index futures, or options on these futures. This affords a hedge against the Fund not participating in a market advance when it is not fully invested and serves as a temporary substitute for the purchase of individual securities, which may later be purchased in a more advantageous manner.

The Funds' successful use of stock index futures contracts depends upon the advisor's ability to predict the direction of the market and is subject to various additional risks. The correlation between movement in the price of the stock index future and the price of the securities being hedged is imperfect and the risk from imperfect correlation increases as the composition of a Fund's portfolio diverges from the composition of the relevant index. In addition, if the Fund purchases futures to hedge against market advances before it can invest in common stock in an advantageous manner and the market declines, there may be a loss on the futures contracts. In addition, the ability of the Fund to close out a futures position or an option on futures depends on a liquid secondary market. There is no assurance that liquid secondary markets will exist for any particular futures contract or option on a futures contract at any particular time. The risk of loss to a Fund is theoretically unlimited when the Fund sells an uncovered futures contract because there is an obligation to make delivery unless the contract is closed out, regardless of fluctuations in the price of the underlying security.

Foreign Currency Futures Transactions. Unlike forward foreign currency exchange contracts, foreign currency futures contracts and options on foreign currency futures contract are standardized as to amount and delivery period and may be traded on boards of trade and commodities exchanges or directly with a dealer which makes a market in such contracts and options. It is anticipated that such contracts may provide greater liquidity and lower cost than forward foreign currency exchange contracts. As part of their financial futures transactions, the Funds may use foreign currency futures contracts and options on such futures contracts. Through the purchase or sale of such contracts, the Funds may be able to achieve many of the same objectives as through investing in forward foreign currency exchange.

Foreign Currency Options. A foreign currency option provides the option buyer with the right to buy or sell a stated amount of foreign currency at the exercise price at a specified date or during the option period. A call option gives its owner the right, but not the obligation, to buy the currency, while a put option gives its owner the right, but not the obligation, to sell the currency. The option seller (writer) is obligated to fulfill the terms of the option sold if it is exercised. However, either seller or buyer may close its position during the option period in the secondary market for such options at any time prior to expiration.

A foreign currency call option rises in value if the underlying currency appreciates. Conversely, a foreign currency put option rises in value if the underlying currency depreciates. While purchasing a foreign currency option may protect the Fund against an adverse

movement in the value of a foreign currency, it would not limit the gain which might result from a favorable movement in the value of the currency. For example, if a Fund were holding securities denominated in an appreciating foreign currency and had purchased a foreign currency put to hedge against a decline in the value of the currency, it would not have to exercise its put. In such an event, however, the amount of the Fund's gain would be offset in part by the premium paid for the option. Similarly, if a Fund entered into a contract to purchase a security denominated in a foreign currency and purchased a foreign currency call to hedge against a rise in the value of the currency between the date of purchase and the settlement date, the Fund would not need to exercise its call if the currency instead depreciated in value. In such a case, the Fund would acquire the amount of foreign currency needed for settlement in the spot market at a lower price than the exercise price of the option.

REITs. The Funds may invest in securities of real estate investment trusts ("REITs"). REITs are publicly traded corporations or trusts that specialize in acquiring, holding and managing residential, commercial or industrial real estate. A REIT is not taxed at the entity level on income distributed to its shareholders or unitholders if it distributes to shareholders or unitholders at least 95% of its taxable income for each taxable year and complies with regulatory requirements relating to its organization, ownership, assets and income.

REITs generally can be classified as "Equity REITs" "Mortgage REITs" and "Hybrid REITs." An Equity REIT invests the majority of its assets directly in real property and derives its income primarily from rents and from capital gains on real estate appreciation which are realized through property sales. A Mortgage REIT invests the majority of its assets in real estate mortgage loans and services its income primarily from interest payments. A Hybrid REIT combines the characteristics of an Equity REIT and a Mortgage REIT. Although each Fund can invest in all three kinds of REITs, its emphasis is expected to be on investments in Equity REITs.

Investments in the real estate industry involve particular risks. The real estate industry has been subject to substantial fluctuations and declines on a local, regional and national basis in the past and may continue to be in the future. Real property values and income from real property may decline due to general and local economic conditions, overbuilding and increased competition, increases in property taxes and operating expenses, changes in zoning laws, casualty or condemnation losses, regulatory limitations on rents, changes in neighborhoods and in demographics, increases in market interest rates, or other factors. Factors such as these may adversely affect companies that own and operate real estate directly, companies that lend to such companies, and companies that service the real estate industry.

Direct investments in REITs also involve risks. Equity REITs will be affected by changes in the values of and income from the properties they own, while Mortgage REITs may be affected by the credit quality of the mortgage loans they hold. In addition, REITs are dependent on specialized management skills and on their ability to generate cash flow for operating purposes and to make distributions to shareholders or unitholders. REITs may have limited diversification and are subject to risks associated with obtaining financing for real property, as well as to the risk of self-liquidation. REITs also can be adversely affected by their failure to qualify for tax-free pass-through treatment of their income under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or their failure to maintain an exemption from registration under the 1940 Act. By investing in REITs indirectly through the Funds, a shareholder bears not only a proportionate share of the expenses of the Fund, but also may indirectly bear similar expenses of some of the REITs in which it invests.

Master Limited Partnerships. The Funds may invest in master limited partnerships ("MLPs"). MLPs are typically engaged in one or more aspects of the exploration, production, processing, transmission, marketing, storage or delivery of energy-related commodities such as natural gas, natural gas liquids, coal, crude oil or refined petroleum products. Investments in MLPs involve risks different from those of investing in common stock including risks related to limited control and limited rights to vote on matters affecting the MLP, risks related to potential conflicts of interest between the MLP and the MLP's general partner, cash flow risks, dilution risks and risks related to the general partner's limited call right. MLPs are generally considered interest-rate sensitive investments. During periods of interest rate volatility, these investments may not provide attractive returns. Depending on the state of interest rates in general, the use of MLPs could enhance or harm the overall performance of the Fund. Many MLPs are focused on energy-related business and are subject to energy sector risks, such as decline in the price of petroleum. MLPs, typically, do not pay U.S. federal income tax at the partnership level. Instead, each partner is allocated a share of the partnership's income, gains, losses, deductions and expenses. A change in current tax law or in the underlying business mix of a given MLP could result in an MLP being treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which would result in such MLP being required to pay U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income. The classification of an MLP as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes would have the effect of reducing the amount of cash available for distribution by the MLP. Thus, if any of the MLPs owned by the Fund were treated as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it could result in a reduction of the value of your investment in the Fund and lower income, as compared to an MLP that is not taxed as a corporation.

Structured Securities. The Funds may purchase any type of publicly traded or privately negotiated fixed income security, including mortgage-backed securities; structured notes, bonds or debentures; and assignments of and participations in loans.

Mortgage-Backed Securities. The Funds may invest in mortgage-backed securities, such as those issued by the Government National Mortgage Association ("FNMA"), Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation ("FHLMC") or certain foreign issuers. Mortgage-backed securities represent direct or indirect participations in, or are secured by and payable from, mortgage loans secured by real property. The mortgages backing these securities include, among other mortgage instruments, conventional 30-year fixed-rate mortgages, 15-year fixed-rate mortgages, graduated payment mortgages and adjustable rate mortgages. The government or the issuing agency typically guarantees the payment of interest and principal of these securities. However, the guarantees do not extend to the securities' yield or value, which are likely to vary inversely with fluctuations in interest rates, nor do the guarantees extend to the yield or value of the Fund's shares. These securities generally are "pass-through" instruments, through which the holders receive a share of all interest and principal payments from the mortgages underlying the securities, net of certain fees.

Yields on pass-through securities are typically quoted by investment dealers and vendors based on the maturity of the underlying instruments and the associated average life assumption. The average life of pass-through pools varies with the maturities of the underlying mortgage loans. A pool's term may be shortened by unscheduled or early payments of principal on the underlying mortgages. The occurrence of mortgage prepayments is affected by various factors, including the level of interest rates, general economic conditions, the location, scheduled maturity and age of the mortgage and other social and demographic conditions. Because prepayment rates of individual pools vary widely, it is not possible to predict accurately the average life of a particular pool. For pools of fixed-rate 30-year mortgages in a stable interest rate environment, a common industry practice in the U.S. has been to assume that prepayments will result in a 12-year average life, although it may vary depending on numerous factors. At present, pools, particularly those with loans with other maturities or different characteristics, are priced on an assumption of average life determined for each pool. In periods of falling interest rates, the rate of prepayment tends to increase, thereby shortening the actual average life of a pool of mortgage-related securities. Conversely, in periods of rising rates the rate of prepayment tends to decrease, thereby lengthening the actual average life of the pool. However, these effects may not be present, or may differ in degree, if the mortgage loans in the pools have adjustable interest rates or other special payment terms, such as a prepayment charge. Actual prepayment experience may cause the yield of mortgage-backed securities to differ from the assumed average life yield. Reinvestment of prepayments may occur at higher or lower interest rates than the original investment, thus affecting a Fund's yield.

The rate of interest on mortgage-backed securities is lower than the interest rates paid on the mortgages included in the underlying pool due to the annual fees paid to the servicer of the mortgage pool for passing through monthly payments to certificate holders and to any guarantor, such as GNMA, and due to any yield retained by the issuer. Actual yield to the holder may vary from the coupon rate, even if adjustable, if the mortgage-backed securities are purchased or traded in the secondary market at a premium or discount. In addition, there is normally some delay between the time the issuer receives mortgage payments from the servicer and the time the issuer makes the payments on the mortgage-backed securities, and this delay reduces the effective yield to the holder of such securities.

Asset-Backed Securities. The Funds may invest in asset-backed securities, which represent participations in, or are secured by and payable from, assets such as motor vehicle installment sales, installment loan contracts, leases of various types of real and personal property and receivables from revolving credit (credit card) agreements. Such assets are securitized through the use of trusts and special purpose corporations. Payments or distributions of principal and interest may be guaranteed up to certain amounts and for a certain time period by a letter of credit or a pool insurance policy issued by a financial institution unaffiliated with the trust or corporation.

Asset-backed securities present certain risks that are not presented by other securities in which the Funds may invest. Automobile receivables generally are secured by automobiles. Most issuers of automobile receivables permit the loan servicers to retain possession of the underlying obligations. If the servicer were to sell these obligations to another party, there is a risk that the purchaser would acquire an interest superior to that of the holders of the asset-backed securities. In addition, because of the large number of vehicles involved in a typical issuance and technical requirements under state laws, the trustee for the holders of the automobile receivables may not have a proper security interest in the underlying automobiles. Therefore, there is the possibility that recoveries on repossessed collateral may not, in some cases, be available to support payments on these securities. Credit card receivables are generally unsecured, and the debtors are entitled to the protection of a number of state and federal consumer credit laws, many of which give such debtors the right to set off certain amounts owed on the credit cards, thereby reducing the balance due. In addition, there is no assurance that the security interest in the collateral can be realized.

Structured Notes, Bonds and Debentures. The Funds may invest in structured notes, bonds and debentures. Typically, the value of the principal and/or interest on these instruments is determined by reference to changes in the value of specific currencies, interest rates, commodities, indexes or other financial indicators (the "Reference") or the relevant change in two or more References. The interest rate or the principal amount payable upon maturity or redemption may be increased or decreased depending upon changes in the applicable Reference. The terms of the structured securities may provide that in certain circumstances no principal is due at maturity and, therefore, may result in the loss of a Fund's entire investment. The value of structured securities may move in the same or the opposite direction as the value of the Reference, so that appreciation of the Reference may produce an increase or decrease in the interest rate or value of the security at maturity. In addition, the change in interest rate or the value of the security at maturity may be a multiple of the change in the value of the Reference so that the security may be more or less volatile than the Reference, depending on

the multiple. Consequently, structured securities may entail a greater degree of market risk and volatility than other types of debt obligations.

Assignments and Participations. The Funds may invest in assignments of and participations in loans issued by banks and other financial institutions.

When a Fund purchases assignments from lending financial institutions, the Fund will acquire direct rights against the borrower on the loan. However, since assignments are generally arranged through private negotiations between potential assignees and potential assignors, the rights and obligations acquired by the Fund as the purchaser of an assignment may differ from, and be more limited than, those held by the assigning lender.

Participations in loans will typically result in a Fund having a contractual relationship with the lending financial institution, not the borrower. The Funds would have the right to receive payments of principal, interest and any fees to which it is entitled only from the lender of the payments from the borrower. In connection with purchasing a participation, a Fund generally will have no right to enforce compliance by the borrower with the terms of the loan agreement relating to the loan, nor any rights of set-off against the borrower, and the Fund may not benefit directly from any collateral supporting the loan in which it has purchased a participation. As a result, the Fund purchasing a participation will assume the credit risk of both the borrower and the lender selling the participation. In the event of the insolvency of the lender selling the participation, the Fund may be treated as a general creditor of the lender and may not benefit from any set-off between the lender and the borrower.

The Funds may have difficulty disposing of assignments and participations because there is no liquid market for such securities. The lack of a liquid secondary market will have an adverse impact on the value of such securities and on a Fund's ability to dispose of particular assignments or participations when necessary to meet the Fund's liquidity needs or in response to a specific economic event, such as a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the borrower. The lack of a liquid market for assignments and participations also may make it more difficult for a Fund to assign a value to these securities for purposes of valuing the Fund's portfolio and calculating its net asset value.

The Funds may invest in fixed and floating rate loans ("Loans") arranged through private negotiations between a foreign government (a "Borrower") and one or more financial institutions ("Lenders"). The majority of the Fund's investments in Loans are expected to be in the form of participations in Loans ("Participations") and assignments of portions of Loans from third parties ("Assignments"). Participations typically will result in a Fund having a contractual relationship only with the Lender, not with the Borrower. The Funds will have the right to receive payments of principal, interest and any fees to which it is entitled only from the Lender selling the Participation and only upon receipt by the Lender of the payments from the Borrower. In connection with purchasing Participations, the Funds generally will have no right to enforce compliance by the Borrower with the terms of the loan agreement relating to the Loan, nor any rights of set-off against the Borrower, and the Funds may not directly benefit from any collateral supporting the Loan in which it has purchased the Participation. As a result, the Funds will assume the credit risk of both the Borrower and the Lender that is selling the Participation. In the event of the insolvency of the Lender selling a Participation, the Funds may be treated as a general creditor of the Lender and may not benefit from any set-off between the Lender and the Borrower. A Fund will acquire Participations only if the Lender interpositioned between the Fund and the Borrower is determined by CSAM to be creditworthy.

When a Fund purchases Assignments from Lenders, the Fund will acquire direct rights against the Borrower on the Loan. However, since Assignments are generally arranged through private negotiations between potential assignees and potential assignors, the rights and obligations acquired by the Fund as the purchaser of an Assignment may differ from, and be more limited than, those held by the assigning Lender.

There are risks involved in investing in Participations and Assignments. A Fund may have difficulty disposing of them because there is no liquid market for such securities. The lack of a liquid secondary market will have an adverse impact on the value of such securities and on the Fund's ability to dispose of particular Participations or Assignments when necessary to meet the Fund's liquidity needs or in response to a specific economic event, such as a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the Borrower. The lack of a liquid market for Participations and Assignments also may make it more difficult for the Fund to assign a value to these securities for purposes of valuing the Fund's portfolio and calculating its net asset value.

Restricted and Illiquid Securities. The Funds may acquire, in privately negotiated transactions, securities that cannot be offered for public sale in the United States without first being registered under the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"). Restricted securities are subject to restrictions on resale under federal securities law. Because of these restrictions, a Fund may not be able to readily resell these securities at a price equal to what it might obtain for similar securities with a more liquid market. The Funds' valuation of these securities will reflect relevant liquidity considerations. Under criteria established by the Funds' Trustees, certain restricted securities sold pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act may be determined to be liquid. To the extent that restricted securities are not determined to be liquid, each Fund will limit its purchase, together with other illiquid securities including non-negotiable time deposits and repurchase agreements providing for settlement in more than seven days after notice, to no more than 15% of its net assets.

Restricted securities in which the Funds may invest may include commercial paper issued in reliance on the exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper is restricted as to disposition under federal securities law, and is generally sold to institutional investors, such as the Funds, who agree that they are purchasing the paper for investment purposes and not with a view to public distribution. Any resale by the purchaser must be in an exempt transaction. Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper is normally resold to other institutional investors like the Funds through or with the assistance of the issuer or investment dealers who make a market in Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper, thus providing liquidity. The Advisor believes that Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper and possibly certain other restricted securities which meet the criteria for liquidity established by the Trustees of the Fund are quite liquid. The Funds intend, therefore, to treat the restricted securities which meet the criteria for liquidity established by the Trustees, including Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper, as determined by the Advisor, as liquid and not subject to the investment limitations applicable to illiquid securities.

Repurchase Agreements. Securities held by the Funds may be subject to repurchase agreements. These transactions permit the Funds to earn income for periods as short as overnight. The Funds could receive less than the repurchase price on any sale of such securities. Under the terms of a repurchase agreement, a Fund would acquire securities from member banks of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and registered broker-dealers and other financial institutions that the advisor deems creditworthy under guidelines approved by the Trust's Board of Trustees, subject to the seller's agreement to repurchase such securities at a mutually agreed-upon date and price. The repurchase price would generally equal the price paid by the Fund plus interest negotiated on the basis of current short-term rates, which may be more or less than the rate on the underlying portfolio securities. The seller under a repurchase agreement will be required to maintain continually the value of collateral held pursuant to the agreement at not less than the repurchase price (including accrued interest). If the seller were to default on its repurchase obligation or become insolvent, the Fund holding such obligation would suffer a loss to the extent that the proceeds from a sale of the underlying portfolio securities were less than the repurchase price under the agreement, or to the extent that the disposition of such securities by the Fund were delayed pending court action. Additionally, there is no controlling legal precedent confirming that a Fund would be entitled, as against a claim by such seller or its receiver or trustee in bankruptcy, to retain the underlying securities, although the Trust believes that, under the regular procedures normally in effect for custody of the Fund's securities subject to repurchase agreements and under federal laws, a court of competent jurisdiction would rule in favor of the Trust if presented with the question. Securities subject to repurchase agreements will be held by the Funds' custodian or another qualified custodian or in the Federal Reserve/Treasury book-entry system. Repurchase agreements are considered to be loans by the Funds under the 1940 Act.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements. The Funds may enter into reverse repurchase agreements. In a reverse repurchase agreement, a Fund sells a security and agrees to repurchase it at a mutually agreed upon date and at a price reflecting the interest rate effective for the term of the agreement. This may also be viewed as the borrowing of money by the Fund. The Funds will not invest the proceeds of a reverse repurchase agreement for a period which exceeds the duration of the reverse repurchase agreement. The Funds will segregate assets consisting of cash or liquid securities in an amount at least equal to its repurchase obligations under its reverse repurchase agreements.

Reverse repurchase agreements involve the risk that the market value of the securities retained by a Fund may decline below the price of the securities it has sold but is obligated to repurchase under the agreement. In the event the buyer of securities under a reverse repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, a Fund's use of proceeds from the agreement may be restricted pending a determination by the other party or its trustee or receiver whether to enforce the Fund's obligation to repurchase the securities.

Borrowing. The Funds are permitted to borrow money up to one-third of the value of its total assets. Borrowing is a speculative technique that increases investment opportunity and a Fund's ability to achieve greater returns. However, it also increases investment risk. Because a Fund's investments will fluctuate in value, whereas the interest obligations on borrowed funds may be fixed (or floating), during times of borrowing, a Fund's net asset value may tend to increase more when its investments increase in value, and decrease more when its investments decrease in value. In addition, interest costs on borrowings may fluctuate with changing market interest rates and may partially offset or exceed the return earned on the investments made with borrowed funds. Also, during times of borrowing under adverse market conditions, a Fund might have to sell portfolio securities to meet interest or principal payments at a time when fundamental investment considerations would not favor such sales. The Funds may also borrow for temporary liquidity purposes, such as to meet redemptions, rather than to leverage its investment portfolio.

Loans of Portfolio Securities. The Funds may lend securities if such loans are secured continuously by liquid assets consisting of cash, U.S. Government securities or other liquid debt securities or by a letter of credit in favor of a Fund at least equal at all times to 100% of the market value of the securities loaned, plus accrued interest. While such securities are on loan, the borrower will pay the Fund any income accruing thereon. Loans will be subject to termination by the Fund in the normal settlement time, currently three Business Days after notice, or by the borrower on one day's notice (as used herein, "Business Day" shall denote any day on which the New York Stock Exchange and the custodian are both open for business). Any gain or loss in the market price of the borrowed securities that occurs during the term of the loan inures to the lending Fund and its shareholders. The Funds may pay reasonable finders' and custodial fees, including fees to an advisor or its affiliate, in connection with loans. In addition, the Funds will consider all facts and circumstances including the creditworthiness of the borrowing financial institution, and the Funds will not lend their securities to any

director, officer, employee, or affiliate of an advisor, the Administrator or Distributor, unless permitted by applicable law. Loans of portfolio securities involve risks, such as delays or an inability to regain the securities or collateral adjustments in the event the borrower defaults or enters into bankruptcy.

Short Sales Against The Box. The Funds may engage in short sales against the box. In a short sale, a Fund sells a borrowed security and has a corresponding obligation to the lender to return the identical security. The seller does not immediately deliver the securities sold and is said to have a short position in those securities until delivery occurs. A Fund may engage in a short sale if at the time of the short sale the Fund owns or has the right to obtain without additional cost an equal amount of the security being sold short. This investment technique is known as a short sale "against the box." It may be entered into by the Fund to, for example, lock in a sale price for a security the Fund does not wish to sell immediately. If a Fund engages in a short sale, the collateral for the short position will be segregated in an account with the Fund's custodian or qualified sub-custodian. No more than 10% of the Fund's net assets (taken at current value) may be held as collateral for short sales against the box at any one time.

The Funds may make a short sale as a hedge, when it believes that the price of a security may decline, causing a decline in the value of a security owned by a Fund (or a security convertible or exchangeable for such security). In such case, any future losses in the Fund's long position should be offset by a gain in the short position and, conversely, any gain in the long position should be reduced by a loss in the short position. The extent to which such gains or losses are reduced will depend upon the amount of the security sold short relative to the amount a Fund owns. There will be certain additional transaction costs associated with short sales against the box, but the Funds will endeavor to offset these costs with the income from the investment of the cash proceeds of short sales.

If a Fund effects a short sale of securities at a time when it has an unrealized gain on the securities, it may be required to recognize that gain as if it had actually sold the securities (as a "constructive sale") on the date it effects the short sale. However, such constructive sale treatment may not apply if the Fund closes out the short sale with securities other than the appreciated securities held at the time of the short sale and if certain other conditions are satisfied. Uncertainty regarding the tax consequences of effecting short sales may limit the extent to which the Funds may effect short sales.

Short Sales (excluding Short Sales "Against the Box"). The Funds may sell securities short or purchase ETFs that sell securities short. A short sale is a transaction in which a Fund sells securities it does not own in anticipation of a decline in the market price of the securities.

To deliver the securities to the buyer, a Fund must arrange through a broker to borrow the securities and, in so doing, the Fund becomes obligated to replace the securities borrowed at their market price at the time of replacement, whatever that price may be. The Fund will make a profit or incur a loss as a result of a short sale depending on whether the price of the securities decreases or increases between the date of the short sale and the date on which the Fund purchases the security to replace the borrowed securities that have been sold. The amount of any loss would be increased (and any gain decreased) by any premium or interest the Fund is required to pay in connection with a short sale.

A Fund's obligation to replace the securities borrowed in connection with a short sale will be secured by cash or liquid securities deposited as collateral with the broker. In addition, the Fund will place in a segregated account with its custodian or a qualified subcustodian an amount of cash or liquid securities equal to the difference, if any, between (i) the market value of the securities sold at the time they were sold short and (ii) any cash or liquid securities deposited as collateral with the broker in connection with the short sale (not including the proceeds of the short sale). Until it replaces the borrowed securities, the Fund will maintain the segregated account daily at a level so that (a) the amount deposited in the account plus the amount deposited with the broker (not including the proceeds from the short sale) will equal the current market value of the securities sold short and (b) the amount deposited in the account plus the amount deposited with the broker (not including the proceeds from the short sale) will not be less than the market value of the securities at the time they were sold short.

Municipal Securities. Municipal securities are debt obligations issued to obtain funds for various public purposes, including the construction of a wide range of public facilities such as airports, bridges, highways, housing, hospitals, mass transportation, schools, streets and water and sewer works. Other public purposes for which municipal securities may be issued include refunding of outstanding obligations, obtaining funds for general operating expenses and obtaining funds to loan to other public institutions and facilities. In addition, certain types of industrial development bonds are issued by or on behalf of public authorities to obtain funds to provide privately-operated housing facilities, sports facilities, convention or trade show facilities, airport, mass transit, port or parking facilities, air or water pollution control facilities and certain local facilities for water supply, gas, electricity, or sewage or solid waste disposal. Such obligations, which may include lease arrangements, are included within the term "municipal securities" if the interest paid thereon qualifies as exempt from federal income tax. Other types of industrial development bonds, the proceeds of which are used for the construction, equipment, repair or improvement of privately operated industrial or commercial facilities, may constitute municipal securities, although the current federal tax laws place substantial limitations on the size of such issues.

The two principal classifications of municipal securities are "general obligation" and "revenue" bonds. General obligation bonds are secured by the issuer's pledge of its full faith, credit and taxing power for the payment of principal and interest. Revenue bonds are payable only from the revenues derived from a particular facility or class of facilities or, in some cases, from the proceeds of a special excise or other specific revenue source. Industrial development bonds that are municipal securities are in most cases revenue bonds and do not generally involve the pledge of the credit of the issuer of such bonds. There are, of course, variations in the degree of risk of municipal securities, both within a particular classification and between classifications, depending upon numerous factors.

The yields on municipal securities are dependent upon a variety of factors, including general money market conditions, general conditions of the municipal securities market, size of particular offering, maturity of the obligation and rating of the issue. The ratings of Moody's and S&P represent their opinions as to the quality of the municipal securities which they undertake to rate. It should be emphasized, however, that ratings are general and are not absolute standards of quality. Consequently, municipal securities with the same maturity, coupon and rating may have different yields, while municipal securities of the same maturity and coupon with different ratings may have the same yield.

The Funds may invest in "private activity" bonds. The Funds may also purchase participation interests in municipal securities (such as industrial development bonds) from financial institutions, including banks, insurance companies and broker-dealers. A participation interest gives a Fund an undivided interest in the municipal securities in the proportion that the Fund's participation interest bears to the total principal amount of the municipal securities. These instruments may be variable or fixed rate.

Provisions of the federal bankruptcy statutes relating to the adjustment of debts of political subdivisions and authorities of states of the United States provide that, in certain circumstances, such subdivisions or authorities may be authorized to initiate bankruptcy proceedings without prior notice to or consent of creditors, which proceedings could result in material and adverse modification or alteration of the rights of holders of obligations issued by such subdivisions or authorities.

Litigation challenging the validity under state constitutions of present systems of financing public education has been initiated or adjudicated in a number of states, and legislation has been introduced to effect changes in public school finances in some states. In other instances there has been litigation challenging the issuance of pollution control revenue bonds or the validity of their issuance under state or federal law which litigation could ultimately affect the validity of those Municipal Securities or the tax-free nature of the interest thereon.

Unit Investment Trusts. A unit investment trust, commonly referred to as a UIT, is one of three basic types of investment companies. The other two types are mutual funds and closed-end funds. A unit investment trust is a registered investment company that buys and holds a generally fixed portfolio of stocks, bonds, or other securities. "Units" in the trust are sold to investors (unitholders) who receive a share of principal and dividends (or interest). A UIT has a stated date for termination that varies according to the investments held in its portfolio. A UIT investing in long-term bonds may remain outstanding for 20 to 30 years. UITs that invest in stocks may seek to capture capital appreciation over a period of a year or a few years. When these trusts are dissolved, proceeds from the securities are either paid to unitholders or reinvested in another trust. A UIT does not actively trade its investment portfolio. That is, a UIT buys a relatively fixed portfolio of securities (for example, five, ten, or twenty specific stocks or bonds), and holds them with little or no change for the life of the UIT. Because the investment portfolio of a UIT generally is fixed, investors know more or less what they are investing in for the duration of their investment. Investors will find the portfolio securities held by the UIT listed in its prospectus.

There are two main types of UITs, fixed-income and equity, although a variety of UITs within those two categories are available to meet almost any investment objectives and level of risk tolerance. UITs invest in a wide range of securities, including municipal and corporate bonds, U.S. government securities, common or preferred stock (domestic and international), mortgage-backed securities, and international bonds.

Investors who choose fixed-income UITs typically receive regular income, usually monthly. In contrast, investors holding bonds directly receive interest semiannually or even annually. Investors who choose equity UITs may receive dividend income monthly, quarterly, or semiannually, or simply reap any long-term capital appreciation the trust may accrue following its dissolution. (Of course, a UIT, like any investment, may potentially lose money as well.)

Although many investors purchase units with the intention of holding them until the trust terminates, UIT investors may sell their units at any time. Even in the absence of a secondary market for UITs, trusts are required by law to redeem (buy back) outstanding units at their net asset value (NAV), which is based upon the current market value of the underlying securities. The NAV may be more or less than the price the investor paid initially.

Generally, unitholders must pay income taxes on the interest, dividends, and/or capital gains distributed to them, although in retirement accounts such as IRAs taxes are deferred until distributions are taken from the account. UITs provide IRS Form 1099 to their

unitholders annually to summarize the trust's distributions. Also, when an investor sells units, he or she will realize either a taxable gain or a loss that should be reported on income tax returns. Certain UITs provide income that is free from federal and/or state taxation.

Private Investment Funds. The Funds may invest in privately-offered investment funds that are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1993 and are typically excluded from the definition of investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 ("1940 Act"). These private investment funds are commonly referred to as private funds, private equity funds, PE funds, or VC funds. Additionally, these private investment funds are generally available only to accredited investors, such as the Funds and other institutional investors. The Funds may invest in primary offering as well as secondary offerings.

Private equity is a common term for investments that are typically made in non-public companies through privately negotiated transactions. Private equity investors generally seek to acquire quality assets at attractive valuations and use operational expertise to enhance value and improve portfolio company performance. Buyout funds are used by private equity investors to acquire private and public companies, as well as divisions of larger companies. Private equity specialists seek to uncover value enhancing opportunities in portfolio companies, unlock the value of the portfolio company and reposition it for sale at a multiple of invested equity.

Private equity investments held by private investment funds may be structured using a range of financial instruments, including common and preferred equity, convertible securities, subordinated debt and warrants or other derivatives. Private equity funds, often organized as limited partnerships, are the most common vehicles for making private equity investments. In such funds, investors usually commit to provide up to a certain amount of capital when requested by the fund's manager or general partner. The general partner then makes private equity investments on behalf of the private investment fund. The private investment fund's investments are usually realized, or "exited" after a four to seven year holding period through a private sale, an initial public offering ("IPO") or a recapitalization. Proceeds of such exits are then distributed to the private investment fund's investors. The private investment funds themselves typically have a term of seven to twelve years.

Venture Capital, Growth Capital, Special Situations, and Buyouts

Different private equity strategies may refer to "financing stages" (stage of development) and may have distinct risk, return and correlation characteristics, and play different roles within a private equity portfolio. Broadly speaking, private equity investments can be broken down into four financing stages: venture capital, growth capital, special situations, and buyouts. These categories may be further subdivided based on the investment strategies that are employed. The Funds intend to invest primarily in venture capital.

Venture Capital. Investments in new and emerging companies are usually classified as venture capital. Such investments are often in technology and healthcare-related industries. Companies financed by venture capital are generally not cash flow positive at the time of investment and may require several rounds of financing before the company can be sold privately or taken public. Venture capital investors may finance companies along the full path of development or focus on certain sub-stages (usually classified as seed, early and late stage) in partnership with other investors.

Growth Capital. These typically involve minority investments in established companies with strong growth characteristics. Companies that receive growth capital typically have established customers and mature business models.

Special Situations. These typically involve a broad range of investments including mezzanine, distressed debt, energy/utility investing and turnarounds may be classified as special situations.

Buyouts. These typically involve control investments in established, cash flow positive companies and are usually classified as buyouts. Buyout investments may focus on small-, mid- or large-capitalization companies, and such investments collectively represent a substantial majority of the capital deployed in the overall private equity market. The use of debt financing, or leverage, is prevalent in buyout transactions — particularly in the large-cap segment. Overall, debt financing typically makes up 50-70% of the price paid for a company.

Valuation

The private investment funds will invest a large percentage of their assets in certain securities and other financial instruments that do not have readily ascertainable market prices. Therefore, the private investment funds also do not have readily ascertainable market prices. Procedures, approved by the Board, provide that valuations for private investment funds will be determined based primarily on valuations provided by private investment fund managers, provided that such values will be adjusted for any other relevant information, if any, available at the daily time a Fund values its portfolio holdings. Such relevant information may include capital activity, information regarding any impairments or changes from the private investment fund manager, and material events occurring between the reference dates of the private investment fund manager's valuations and the relevant valuation date for a Fund. Generally, private investment fund managers typically provide valuations on a quarterly, or less frequent, basis whereas the Fund must consider

valuations on an ongoing daily basis using its valuation methodology. However, while any model that may be used would be designed to assist in confirming or adjusting valuation recommendations, a Fund will not be able to confirm with certainty the accuracy of a private investment fund manager's valuations until the Fund receives the private investment fund's audited annual financial statements and, as with all models, any imperfections, errors, or limitations in the pricing model could affect the ability of the Fund to accurately value private investment fund assets on a monthly basis.

Primary Investments. Primary investments (primaries) are interests or investments in newly-established private investment funds. Most private investment fund sponsors raise new funds only every two to four years, and many top-performing funds are closed to new investors. Because of the limited windows of opportunity for making primary investments in particular private investment funds, strong relationships with leading fund sponsors are highly important for primary investors. Primary investors subscribe for interests during an initial fundraising period, and their capital commitments are then used to fund investments in a number of individual operating companies during a defined investment period. Primary investments typically exhibit "J-curve" performance, in which their net asset value typically declines moderately during the early years of the private investment fund 's life as investment-related fees and expenses are incurred before investment gains have been realized. As a private investment fund matures and as portfolio companies are sold, the pattern typically reverses with increasing net asset value and distributions. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all primary investments made by a Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment returns. Primary investments are usually five to thirteen years in duration, while underlying investments in portfolio companies generally have a three to seven year duration, if not longer.

Selection of Private Investment Funds

The advisor uses various resources to identify and source the availability of promising private investment funds. The advisor's diligence process focuses on risk management, investment and operational diligence. The advisor will select investment strategies and private investment funds on the basis of availability, pricing in the case of secondaries and various qualitative and quantitative criteria, including the advisor's analysis of actual and projected cash flows and past performance of a private investment fund during various time periods and market cycles; and the private investment fund manager's reputation, experience, expertise, and adherence to investment philosophy. After making an investment in a private investment fund, and as part of its ongoing diligence process, the advisor will seek to: track operating information and other pertinent details; participate in any periodic conference calls with a private investment fund's manager and onsite visits where appropriate; review audited and unaudited reports; and monitor turnover in senior personnel and changes in policies. In conjunction with the due diligence process, the tax treatment and legal terms of the investment are also considered.

Secondary Investments. Secondary investments (secondaries) are interests in existing private investment funds that are acquired in privately negotiated transactions, typically after the end of the private investment fund's fundraising period. Because secondaries typically already have invested in portfolio companies, they are viewed as more mature investments than primaries and further along in their development pattern. As a result, their investment returns may not exhibit the downside of a J-curve pattern expected of primaries in their early stages. There can be no assurance, however, that any or all secondary investments made by a Fund will exhibit this pattern of investment development.

Risks

A Fund's performance depends upon the performance of the private investment funds' managers and selected strategies, the adherence by such managers to such selected strategies, the instruments used by such managers and the advisor's ability to select managers and strategies and effectively allocate Fund assets among the private investment funds. A Fund's investment portfolio may consist of private investment funds that hold securities issued primarily by privately-held companies, and operating results for the portfolio companies in a specified period will be difficult to predict. Such investments involve a high degree of business and financial risk that can result in substantial losses. The securities in which a private investment fund manager may invest may be among the most junior in a portfolio company's capital structure and, thus, subject to the greatest risk of loss. Generally, there will be no collateral to protect an investment once made. A manager's investments, depending upon strategy, may be in companies whose capital structures are highly leveraged. Such investments involve a high degree of risk in that adverse fluctuations in the cash flow of such companies, or increased interest rates, may impair their ability to meet their obligations, which may accelerate and magnify declines in the value of any such portfolio company investments in a down market. Fund investors will bear two layers of fees and expenses: asset-based fees and expenses at the Fund level, and asset-based fees, carried interests, incentive allocations or other fees and expenses at the private investment funds level. Venture capital is usually classified by investments in private companies that have a limited operating history, are attempting to develop or commercialize unproven technologies or implement novel business plans or are not otherwise developed sufficiently to be self-sustaining financially or to become public. Although these investments may offer the opportunity for significant gains, such investments involve a high degree of business and financial risk that can result in substantial losses, which risks generally are greater than the risks of investing in public companies that may be at a later stage of development.

A Fund's investments in private investment funds, and many of the investments held by the private investment funds, will be priced in the absence of a readily available market and may be priced based on determinations of fair value, which may prove to be inaccurate. Neither the advisor nor the Board of Trustees will be able to confirm independently the accuracy of the managers' valuations

(which are unaudited, except at year-end). This risk is exacerbated to the extent that private investment funds generally provide valuations only on a quarterly basis or less-frequent basis. While such information is provided on a quarterly or less-frequent basis, the Funds will provide valuations, and will issue shares, on a daily basis.

Private investment funds will not be registered as investment companies under the 1940 Act, and, therefore, a Fund and its investors, as investors in such private investment funds, may not avail themselves of 1940 Act protections. Other than as provided in a private funds operating or investment agreement, investors such as a Fund will have no right to receive information about the private investment funds or managers, and will typically have no recourse against private investment funds or their managers. Each Fund intends to continue to qualify as a regulated investment company ("RIC") under the Internal Revenue Code ("Code") but may be subject to income tax liability if it fails to qualify or otherwise fails to obtain treatment as a RIC by failing to satisfy the distribution requirement. A Fund is subject to the risk that private investment funds may not provide information sufficient to ensure that the Fund qualifies as a RIC under the Code.

The Funds intend to hold interests in the private investment funds in non-voting form in order to avoid becoming (i) an "affiliated person" of any private investment fund within the meaning of the 1940 Act and (ii) being subject to the 1940 Act limitations and prohibitions on transactions with affiliated persons. In order to avoid becoming subject to certain 1940 Act prohibitions with respect to affiliated transactions, a Fund would be limited to owning less than 5% of the voting securities of each private investment fund. This limitation on owning voting securities is intended to ensure that a private investment fund is not deemed an "affiliated person", which may, among other things, potentially impose limits on transactions with the private investment fund, both by a Fund and other clients of the advisor. Where only voting securities are available for purchase, a Fund will generally seek to create by contract the same result as owning a non-voting security by agreeing to relinquish the right to vote in respect of its investment. A Fund may irrevocably waive its rights (if any) to vote its interest in a private investment fund. A Fund will not receive any consideration in return for entering into a voting waiver arrangement. To the extent that a Fund contractually foregoes the right to vote private investment fund securities, the Fund will not be able to vote on matters that may be adverse to the Fund's interests. As a result, the Fund's influence on a private investment fund would be diminished, which may consequently adversely affect the Fund and its Investors. The waiver arrangement should be lieves is desirable than the Fund would be able to if it were deemed to be an "affiliate" of the private investment fund within the meaning of the 1940 Act.

DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

The Funds' Board of Trustees has adopted Portfolio Holdings Disclosure Policies and Procedures (the "Policy") to protect the interests of Fund shareholders and to address potential conflicts of interests that could arise between the interests of Fund shareholders and the interests of the Funds' advisor, principal underwriters, or affiliated persons of the Funds, advisor or principal underwriters.

The Policy is intended to prevent the misuse of material non-public information regarding the portfolio holdings of the Funds ("Holdings Information"). Holdings Information will be disclosed to selected third parties only when a Fund has a legitimate business purpose for doing so, and the Recipients (as defined below) are subject to a duty of confidentiality (including a duty not to trade based on the non-public information). Under this Policy, the receipt of compensation by a Fund, the advisor or an affiliate as consideration for disclosing Holdings Information will not be deemed a legitimate business purpose. Recipients will receive Holdings Information only after furnishing written assurances to the advisor and/or the Fund that the Holdings Information will remain confidential, and Recipients and persons with access to the Holdings Information will be prohibited from trading based on the Information. In all instances, Holdings Information will be disclosed only when consistent with the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws and the advisor's fiduciary duties, and the advisor's obligations to prevent the misuse of material, non-public information.

Pursuant to the policy, the Funds, the advisor, and their agents are obligated to:

- Act in the best interests of Fund shareholders by protecting non-public and potentially material Portfolio Holdings information;
- Ensure that Holdings Information is not provided to a favored group of clients or potential clients; and
- Adopt such safeguards and controls around the release of Holdings Information so that no client or group of clients is unfairly disadvantaged as a result of such release.

The following policies and procedures will apply to the disclosure of listings of Portfolio Holdings for the Funds by the Advisor and the Funds:

SEC Filings. The Funds must disclose their complete portfolio holdings quarterly to the SEC using Form N-PORT within 60 days of the end of the first and third quarter end of the Funds' fiscal year on the Form N-CSR on the second and fourth quarter of the Funds' fiscal year. The N-PORT report is not required to be mailed to shareholders, but is made public through the SEC electronic filings.

The Funds must provide either complete portfolio holdings or summaries of their portfolio holdings to shareholders in tabular or graphical format by identifiable categories (e.g., industry sector, geographic region, credit quality, or maturity) according to the percentage of net assets. The ruling requires at least disclosure of the top 50 holdings (based on percentage of net assets) and any investment exceeding 1% of a Fund's net asset value. This change is intended to provide a more concise and investor-friendly presentation of the allocation of the Fund's investments across asset classes.

Service Providers. Pursuant to policies and procedures adopted by the Board of Trustees, the Funds have ongoing arrangements to release portfolio holdings information on a daily basis, with no lag time, to the Advisor, Transfer Agent, Fund Accounting Agent, Administrator and Custodian. The advisor, Transfer Agent, Fund Accounting Agent, Administrator and Custodian receive portfolio holdings information daily in order to carry out the essential operations of the Funds. The Funds may also release portfolio information on an as needed basis, with varying lag times, to other third parties providing services to the Funds. The Funds disclose portfolio holdings to their auditors, legal counsel, proxy voting services (if applicable), pricing services, printers, parties to merger and reorganization agreements and their agents, and prospective or newly hired investment advisors or sub-advisors. The Funds disclose portfolio holdings to Morningstar, Inc. for the purpose of providing fund evaluation services. Portfolio holdings are provided as of the last business day of each month and transmitted to Morningstar, Inc. with a one to three business day delay. These portfolio disclosures are available to the public at no charge by visiting https://www.morningstar.com/ and entering a Fund's ticker symbol (e.g. DGQAX) in the rounded box near the top center of the page just below "MORNINGSTAR" and then clicking on the "Portfolio" tab and then clicking on "Holdings." Portfolio holdings are also available by calling toll-free 1-877-217-8501 once they are posted by Morningstar, Inc. The information may be provided to auditors within days of the end of an annual period, while the information may be given to legal counsel at any time, with no lag time, and information may be given to proxy voting services (if applicable), pricing services, printers, parties to merger and reorganization agreements and their agents, and prospective or newly hired investment advisors or subadvisors at intervals and lag times which will vary.

Other Disclosure. The advisor and the Funds currently do not disclose Holdings Information except as noted above. The CCO may authorize providing non-public Holdings Information of a Fund that is current as of thirty business days after the month-end to third-party rating and ranking organizations (each a "Recipient") for use in connection with their rating or ranking of the Fund. The disclosure may include additional information; however, any such additional information provided to a Recipient shall not include any material information about a Fund's trading strategies or pending transactions.

The CCO may approve the distribution in an electronic format of non-public Holdings Information posted on the public Internet site of the Company to Recipients and rating agencies upon request, and such Recipients and rating agencies will not be required to execute a Nondisclosure Agreement.

Occasions may arise where the advisor, the Funds or an affiliate may have a conflict of interest in connection with a Recipient's request for disclosure of Holdings Information. In order to protect the interests of shareholders and the Funds and to ensure no adverse effect on the shareholders or the Funds, in the limited instances where a Designated Person is considering making non-public Holdings Information, the Designated Person will disclose the conflict to the CCO. If the CCO determines, to the best of his knowledge following appropriate due diligence, that the disclosure of non-public Holdings Information would be in the best interests of shareholders and the Fund and will not adversely affect the shareholders or the Fund, the CCO may approve the disclosure. The CCO will document in writing any such exception (which identifies the legitimate business purpose for the disclosure) and will provide a report to the Board of the Fund for its review at a subsequent Board meeting. Any such exceptions log shall be retained in the Fund's records.

The Funds and the Advisor will not enter into any arrangement providing for the disclosure of Holdings Information for the receipt of compensation or benefit of any kind in return for the disclosure of the Holdings Information. The Board of Trustees exercises oversight of the disclosure of Portfolio Holdings by reviewing quarterly reports presented by the Funds' CCO regarding violations of the Funds' policies, exceptions to the policies, and new arrangements for disclosing Portfolio Holdings.

TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

The Board of Trustees supervises the business and affairs of the Trust and appoints or elects officers responsible for the dayto-day operations of the Trust and the execution of policies established by Board resolution or directive.

The Board of Trustees has considered the overall leadership structure of the Trust and has established committees designed to facilitate the governance of the Trust by the Trustees generally and the Board's role with respect to risk oversight specifically. The Trust's committees are responsible for certain aspects of risk oversight relating to financial statements, the valuation of the Trust's assets, and compliance matters. The Board of Trustees also has frequent interaction with the service providers and Chief Compliance Officer of the Trust with respect to risk oversight matters. The Trust's Chief Compliance Officer (the "CCO") reports directly to the Board generally with respect to the CCO's role in managing the compliance risks of the Trust. The CCO may also report directly to a particular committee of the Board depending on the subject matter. The Trust's principal financial officer reports to the Audit Committee of the Board on all financial matters affecting the Trust, including risks associated with financial reporting. Through the committee structure, the Trustees also interact with other officers and service providers of the Trust to monitor risks related to the Trust's operations. The Trust has determined that its leadership structure is appropriate based on the size of the Trust, the Board of Trustees' current responsibilities, each Trustee's ability to participate in the oversight of the Trust and committee transparency.

The Audit Committee consists of the Independent Trustees of the Trust. The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the full Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities to the shareholders and the investment community relating to fund accounting, reporting practices and the quality and integrity of the financial reports. To satisfy these responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviews with the independent auditors, the audit plan and results and recommendations following independent audits, reviews the performance of the independent auditors and recommends engagement or discharge of the auditors to the full Board, reviews the independent auditors, reviews the adequacy of the Funds' internal controls and prepares and submits Committee meeting minutes and supporting documentation to the full Board. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Audit Committee met four times.

The Board members were selected to serve as such because of their relevant past experience. Generally, the Trust believes that each Trustee is competent to serve because of their individual overall merits including: (i) experience, (ii) qualifications, (iii) attributes and (iv) skills.

Mr. David S. Friedensohn possesses what the Board feels are unique experiences, qualifications and skills valuable to the Trust. Mr. Friedensohn is an executive consultant to privately held and publicly traded companies and their investors. He has worked as the CEO of both publicly traded and privately funded internet-based e-commerce, business software and digital entertainment content companies. He has held board positions, executive and senior consulting roles with a variety of software, entertainment and media companies including Viacom, NBC International, BMG Worldwide, National Geographic Television and Sony Pictures Entertainment. He holds an MBA from Columbia University School of Business and an AB from Dartmouth College. He also possesses a strong understanding of the regulatory framework under which investment companies must operate based on his years of prior service to a multi-fund mutual fund complex as a trustee and audit committee member. The Board believes Mr. Friedensohn's experience and expertise in various industries and prior mutual fund service adds depth and understanding to its consideration of the Trustee's obligations to the Trust and shareholders.

Ms. Monica S. Himes possesses what the Board feels are unique experiences, qualifications and skills valuable to the Trust. Ms. Himes has over ten years of capital markets experience includes investment sourcing, capital raising and marketing, as well as strategic advisory for emerging and established managers in alternative investments with focus in real estate and sustainable industries. She has expertise in private equity with direct, fund and joint venture partnership investment structures within the United States and Latin America. Additionally, she led a capital raising campaign from inception to closing for the first institutional fund for a global private equity real estate firm. Prior to her capital raising experience she was at Wachovia Securities with the Equity Research Real Estate group. Before her tenure in the United States, she held positions in a management consultant group, specializing in engagements with local government, bank and private investors, and an international trade firm, focusing on consumer products in Monterrey, Mexico. She also holds FINRA series 7 and 63 licenses. She holds a Master of Science in Finance degree from Suffolk University, and a Bachelor's degree in International Business from the Instituto Tecnologico y de Estudios Superiores de Monterrey. The Board believes Ms. Himes' experience and expertise in the broker-dealer industry as well as her experience in financial analysis and research, adds depth and understanding to its consideration of the Trustee's obligations to the Trust and shareholders.

Allan R. Siegel possesses what the Board feels are unique experiences, qualifications and skills valuable to the Trust. Mr. Siegel is presently the Chief Financial Officer of Northwest Bank with assets of over \$1 billion. In this role he supervises units that include finance; accounting; regulatory compliance, and information security. He also sets priorities and direction for strategic planning, asset liability management, deposit pricing, and strategy. He has over a decade of additional experience in similar executive positions with other banking entities and is well versed on operating in a highly regulated environment. He is very familiar with many aspects financial accounting that affect a variety of financial institutions and possesses the skills to be considered an audit committee financial

expert. He also holds a Bachelors' degree in economics from Dartmouth College. The Board believes Mr. Siegel's experience and expertise in the financial services industry adds depth and understanding to its consideration of the Trustee's obligations to the Trust and shareholders.

Information pertaining to the Trustees and officers of the Trust, including their principal occupations for the last five years, is set forth below. Unless otherwise noted, the address for each Trustee and officer is 8000 Town Centre Drive, Suite 400, Broadview Heights, Ohio 44147-4003.

Disinterested Trustees				
Name, Address and Year of Birth David S. Friedensohn Year of Birth: 1961	Position(s) Held with AmericaFirst Term of Office Length of Time Served Trustee, January 2021 to present	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years CEO, The Wall Street Transcript (financial news and research publisher), 2009 to present; Managing Director, Pellinore	Number of Portfolios in AmericaFirst Overseen by AmericaFirst <u>Trustee</u> 4	Other Directorships Held by AmericaFirst Trustee During Past Five Years Nile Capital Investment Trust, Feb. 2010 to March 2019.
		Ventures, LLC (investment and consulting enterprise), 2010 to present.		
Monica S. Himes Year of Birth: 1973	Trustee, January 2021 to present	Registered Representative, Andes Capital Group, LLC (capital raising and trading broker-dealer); Feb. 2021 to present; Registered Representative, OCP Capital, LLC (private capital raising focused broker-dealer) 2013 to Jan. 2021.	4	None
Allan R. Siegel Year of Birth: 1958	Trustee, September 2021 to present	Chief Financial Officer, Northwest Bank, Apr. 2021 to present; Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer, Columbia Credit Union, Mar. 2017 to Apr. 2021; Senior Adviser, Blackhall Cottage, LLC (specialty finance company with focus on structured term group-life insurance), July 2016 to Mar. 2017.	4	None

Officers of the Trust

	Position(s) Held		Number of	Other
	with		Portfolios in	Directorships
	AmericaFirst		AmericaFirst	Held by
	Term of Office		Overseen by	AmericaFirst
Name, Address and	Length of Time	Principal Occupation(s)	AmericaFirst	Trustee During
Year of Birth	Served	During Past 5 Years	Trustee	Past Five Years

ç.	Chief Compliance Officer	n /a	n /2
	-	n/a	n/a
	-		
	• • •		
-	÷ .		
esent			
	•		
	CCO, AmericaFirst Capital		
	Management LLC, 02/2012		
	to 07/2016; CCO,		
	AmericaFirst Quantitative		
	Funds, 02/2012 to 12/2015;		
	CFO & CCO, AmericaFirst		
	Securities, Inc. (Broker		
	Dealer), 03/2012 to 07/2016		
surer –	From 1999 to present, Vice	n/a	n/a
ist 2017 to	President, Mutual		
nt	Shareholder Services LLC		
etary –	Accountant, Mutual	n/a	n/a
ist 2017 to	Shareholder Services, LLC,		
nt	since 2008; Attorney Mutual		
	Shareholder Services, LLC,		
	since June 2016;		
	Owner/President, Empirical		
	Administration, LLC, since		
	September 2012		
	nst 2017 to nt etary – nst 2017 to	pliance("CCO"), DSS AmericaFirster of theQuantitative Funds, 09/2018 Sept.Present; Owner, Roach Corpto present;(Consulting Firm) 08/2017-dent of thePresent; Managing Principal,April 2023OCP Capital LLC (BrokerbesentDealer), 05/2018-Present;Financial and OperationsPrincipal (FINOP),CommonGood SecuritiesLLC (Broker Dealer),04/2018-Present; COO/CFO,TriLinc Global LLC (ImpactInvestment Fund Manager),01/2017 to 08/2017; CFO &CCO, LR Global Holdings(Frontier Markets InvestmentFirm), 07/2016 to 12/2016;CCO, AmericaFirst CapitalManagement LLC, 02/2012to 07/2016; CCO,AmericaFirst QuantitativeFunds, 02/2012 to 12/2015;CFO & CCO, AmericaFirstSecurities, Inc. (BrokerDealer), 03/2012 to 07/2016st 2017 tontShareholder Services LLCst 2017 tontShareholder Services, LLC,since 2008; Attorney MutualShareholder Services, LLC,since June 2016;Owner/President, EmpiricalAdministration, LLC, since	pliance ("CCO"), DSS AmericaFirst er of the Quantitative Funds, 09/2018- present; Owner, Roach Corp to present; (Consulting Firm) 08/2017- Present; Managing Principal, April 2023 OCP Capital LLC (Broker Dealer), 05/2018-Present; Financial and Operations Principal (FINOP), CommonGood Securities LLC (Broker Dealer), 04/2018-Present; COO/CFO, TriLinc Global LLC (Impact Investment Fund Manager), 01/2017 to 08/2017; CFO & CCO, LR Global Holdings (Frontier Markets Investment Firm), 07/2016 to 12/2016; CCO, AmericaFirst Capital Management LLC, 02/2012 to 07/2016; CCO, AmericaFirst Quantitative Funds, 02/2012 to 12/2015; CFO & CCO, AmericaFirst Securities, Inc. (Broker Dealer), 03/2012 to 07/2016 surer – From 1999 to present, Vice n/a st 2017 to President, Mutual nt Shareholder Services, LLC, since 2008; Attorney Mutual Shareholder Services, LLC, since June 2016; Owner/President, Empirical Administration, LLC, since

Compensation of the Board of Trustees

Trustees who are not "interested persons" (as that term is defined in the 1940 Act) of the Funds, were paid a fee of \$6,000 per year through September 30, 2023; and effective October 1, 2023, these Trustees are paid \$3,000 per Trustee per Board meeting and \$1,500 per Audit Committee member per Audit Committee meeting. The table below details the amount of compensation earned by the Trustees from the Trust for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The Trust does not have a bonus, profit sharing, pension or retirement plan.

Name	Aggregate Compensation From Trust	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued as Part of Fund Expenses	<u>Annual</u> <u>Benefits Upon</u> Retirement	<u>Total</u> <u>Compensation</u> <u>Paid</u> <u>to Trustees</u>
David S. Friedensohn	\$6,000	None	None	\$6,000
Monica S. Himes	\$6,000	None	None	\$6,000
Allan R. Siegel	\$6,000	None	None	\$6,000

As of June 30, 2023, the Independent Trustees and their respective immediate family members (spouse or dependent children) did not own beneficially or of record any securities of the Trust's investment advisers or distributor, or of any person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the investment advisers or distributor.

Trustee Ownership

The following table indicates the dollar range of equity securities that each Trustee beneficially owned in each Fund as of December 31, 2022.

Name	<u>Defensive</u> <u>Growth</u> Fund	<u>Income</u> Fund	Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	<u>Buyback</u> Fund	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in Funds of the Trust
David S. Friedensohn	None	None	None	None	None
Monica S. Himes	None	None	None	None	None
Allan R. Siegel	None	None	None	None	None

As of October 9, 2023, the Trustees and officers, owned less than 1.00% of the outstanding shares of each of the Funds of the Trust.

CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Persons controlling a Fund can determine the outcome of any proposal submitted to the shareholders for approval, including changes to the Fund's fundamental policies or the terms of the advisory agreement with the advisor. Persons owning more than 25% of the outstanding shares of a Fund (or a class of shares of a Fund) may be deemed to control the Fund (or class of the Fund). A principal shareholder is any person who owns (either of record or beneficially) 5% or more of the outstanding shares of a fund or a class of shares of a fund.

Defensive Growth Fund

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Defensive Growth Fund Class A shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Pershing LLC	
P. O. Box 2052	39.29%
Jersey City, NJ 07339	
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	18.58%
San Diego, CA 92121	
Stifel Nicolaus & Co. Inc.	
501 N. Broadway	11.45%
St. Louis, MO 63102	
American Enterprise Inv. Svcs.	
707 2nd Ave. South	6.71%
Minneapolis, MN 55402	
NFS LLC	
200 Liberty Street	7.01%
New York, NY 10281	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Defensive Growth Fund Class U shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Stifel Nicolaus & Co. Inc.	
501 N. Broadway	61.10%
St. Louis, MO 63102	
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	5.71%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	

American Enterprise Inv. Svcs. 707 2nd Ave. South Minneapolis, MN 55402	5.78%
Ameriprise Advisor Services, Inc. 719 Griswold St, STE 1700 Detroit, NY 48226	8.54%

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Defensive Growth Fund Class I shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Charles Schwab 101 Montgomery St. San Francisco, CA 94104	34.79%
LPL Financial PO BOX 509046 San Diego, CA 92121	27.06%
National Financial Services, LLC 200 Liberty St. New York, NY 10281	30.19%

Income Fund

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Income Fund Class A shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	73.78%
San Diego, CA 92121	
National Financial Services, LLC	
200 Liberty St.	14.94%
New York, NY 10281	
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	6.97%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Income Fund Class U shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
National Financial Services, LLC	
200 Liberty St.	18.87%
New York, NY 10281	
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	9.76%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	63.27%
San Diego, CA 92121	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Income Fund Class I shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	95.61%
San Diego, CA 92121	

Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund

Shareholders known by the Trust to own beneficially (B) or of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund Class A shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	30.71%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	
Carol Fehr (B) c/o	
D.A. Davidson	10.25%
8 3 rd Street North	10:23 /0
Great Falls, MT 59401	
Stifel Nicolaus & Co. Inc.	
501 N. Broadway	8.17%
St. Louis, MO 63102	
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	13.68%
San Diego, CA 92121	
Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC	
2801 Market Street	7.90%
St. Louis, MO 63103	
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.	
880 Carillon Parkway	6.20%
St. Petersburg, FL 33716	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund Class U shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	29.02%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	
LPL Financial	
PO BOX 509046	9.16%
San Diego, CA 92121	
Stifel Nicolaus & Co. Inc.	
501 N. Broadway	5.25%
St. Louis, MO 63102	
American Enterprise Inv. Svcs.	
707 2nd Ave. South	5.68%
Minneapolis, MN 55402	
Ameriprise Advisor Services, Inc.	
719 Griswold St, STE 1700	7.32%
Detroit, NY 48226	
National Financial Services, LLC	
200 Liberty St.	10.87%
New York, NY 10281	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund Class I shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Charles Schwab 101 Montgomery St. San Francisco, CA 94104	73.97%
LPL Financial PO BOX 509046 San Diego, CA 92121	11.17%

Buyback Fund

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Large Cap Share Buyback Fund Class A shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	45.43%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	
D.A. Davidson & Co., Inc.	
PO BOX 5015	17.85%
Great Falls, WA 59403	
COR Clearing	
1200 Landmark Center, Ste. 800	16.30%
Omaha, NE 68102	
National Financial Services, LLC	
200 Liberty St.	7.10%
New York, NY 10281	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Large Cap Share Buyback Fund Class U shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
COR Clearing	
1200 Landmark Center, Ste. 800	88.33%
Omaha, NE 68102	
Pershing LLC	
One Pershing Plaza	9.15%
Jersey City, NJ 07399	

Shareholders known by the Trust to own of record 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Large Cap Share Buyback Fund Class I shares as of October 9, 2023 and the percentage of the outstanding shares owned on that date are listed below:

Name and Address	% of Class
National Financial Services, LLC 200 Liberty St. New York, NY 10281	16.14%
Charles Schwab 101 Montgomery St. San Francisco, CA 94104	26.65%
Pershing LLC One Pershing Plaza Jersey City, NJ 07399	54.88%

ADVISOR

DSS Wealth Management, Inc. ("DSS" or the "Advisor"), a Texas corporation located at 275 Wiregrass Parkway, West Henrietta, NY 14586, serves as advisor to the Funds. The Advisor was formed in 2021 and has no prior experience in advising investment accounts or a mutual fund. Management of the Funds is currently its primary business.

Under the terms of a management agreement (the "Management Agreement"), the Advisor is responsible for formulating each Fund's investment policies, making ongoing investment decisions and engaging in portfolio transactions. The Management Agreement provides that the Advisor will provide the Funds with investment advice and supervision and will continuously furnish an investment program for the Funds consistent with the investment objectives and policies of each Fund. The Management Agreement requires the Advisor to provide a complete program of investment for the respective Funds including determining from time to time which securities or other investments shall be purchased, sold or exchanged; assisting the Trust in supervising and overseeing all custody, transfer agency, dividend disbursing, legal accounting and administrative services by third parties that have contracted with the Trust to provide such services. It is the responsibility of the Advisor to make investment decisions for the Funds and to provide continuous supervision of the investment portfolios of the Funds. The Advisor is responsible for the payment of the salaries and expenses of all of its personnel, office rent and the expenses of providing investment advisory and related clerical expenses. The Management Agreement provides that it will continue in force for an initial period of two years, and then from year to year thereafter, but only so long as its continuance is approved at least annually by the Board at a meeting called for that purpose or by the vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of the respective Fund. The Management Agreement automatically terminates on assignment, and it is terminable upon 60 days' prior written notice by (i) the Advisor given to the respective Fund or (ii) the respective Fund given to the Advisor. The Management Agreement provides that the Advisor shall not be subject to any liability in connection with the performance of its services thereunder in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of its obligations and duties.

The following table describes (i) the contractual advisory fee as a percentage of the daily net assets of each Fund and the expense limitation for each Fund.

The Advisor has contractually agreed to waive fees and/or reimburse expenses, but only to the extent necessary to maintain the Fund's total annual operating expenses (exclusive of any (i) any front-end or contingent deferred loads; (ii) brokerage fees and commissions, (iii) acquired fund fees and expenses; (iv) borrowing costs (such as interest and dividend expense on securities sold short); (v) taxes; (vi) legal fees; (vii) specialized pricing services, (viii) proxy costs not borne by the Advisor or another party, (ix) unusual or unanticipated audit costs, (x) change in service provider transition expenses, and (xi) extraordinary expenses, such as litigation expenses (which may include indemnification of Fund officers and Trustees, contractual indemnification of Fund service providers (other than the Advisor))) through October 31, 2024 as shown below:

	Contractual Management Fee	Class A	Class U	Class I
Defensive Growth Fund	1.50%	2.45%	2.95%	1.94%
Income Fund	1.25%	2.20%	2.70%	1.40%
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	1.00%	2.45%	2.95%	1.20%
Buyback Fund	1.25%	1.75%	2.50%	1.50%

This agreement may be terminated by the Fund's Board of Trustees on written notice to the Advisor. These fee waivers and expense reimbursements are subject to possible recoupment from the Fund in future years on a rolling three-year basis (within the three years after the fees have been waived or reimbursed) if such recoupment can be achieved within the lesser of the foregoing expense limits and any expense limits in place at the time of the recoupment. Any recoupment is subject to adjustment for changes in excluded costs subsequent to the year under consideration for recoupment.

Except for the expenses described above that have been assumed by the Advisor, all expenses incurred in administration of the Funds will be charged to the Funds, including investment management fees; fees and expenses of the Board of Trustees; interest charges; taxes; brokerage commissions; expenses of valuing assets; expenses of continuing registration and qualification of the Funds and the shares under federal and state law; share issuance expenses; fees and disbursements of independent accountants and legal counsel; fees and expenses of custodians, including sub-custodians and securities depositories, transfer agents and shareholder account servicing organizations; expenses of preparing, printing and mailing prospectuses, reports, proxies, notices and statements sent to shareholders; expenses of shareholder meetings; costs of investing in underlying funds; and insurance premiums. The Funds are also liable for nonrecurring expenses, including litigation to which they may from time to time be a party.

From the commencement of the provision of advisory services to the Funds commencing October 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022, the Adviser earned the following fees.

<u>Fund Name</u>	Management Fees Earned	<u>Management Fees Waived</u> <u>and/or Expenses</u> <u>Reimbursed</u>
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	\$60,137	\$30,046

Income Fund	\$101,604	\$65,074
Defensive Growth Fund	\$23,909	\$55,287
Buyback Fund	\$44,098	\$59,532

From July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, the Adviser earned the following fees.

<u>Fund Name</u>	<u>Management Fees Earned</u>	<u>Management Fees Waived</u> <u>and/or Expenses</u> <u>Reimbursed</u>
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	\$61,562	\$60,682
Income Fund	\$251,480	\$73,549
Defensive Growth Fund	\$24,482	\$80,023
Buyback Fund	\$46,888	\$84,837

Portfolio Manager

Daniel Lew, CFA[®] is the portfolio manager responsible for the day-to-day management of the Funds. Mr. Lew's compensation from the Funds' Advisor is based on a salary and discretionary bonus.

As of June 30, 2023, Mr. Lew was responsible for managing the following types of accounts other than the funds:

Daniel Lew	<u>Number of</u> <u>Accounts by</u> <u>Account Type</u>	<u>Total Assets By</u> <u>Account Type</u>	<u>Number of</u> <u>Accounts by Type</u> <u>Subject to a</u> <u>Performance Fee</u>	<u>Total Assets By</u> <u>Account Type</u> <u>Subject to a</u> <u>Performance Fee</u>
Registered Investment Companies	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Accounts	0	\$0	0	\$0

The following table shows the dollar range of equity securities in the Fund beneficially owned by Mr. Lew as of June 30, 2023:

Fund Name	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Funds
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	None
Income Fund	None
Defensive Growth Fund	None
Buyback Fund	None

Potential Conflicts of Interest

Actual or apparent conflicts of interest may arise when a portfolio manager has day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to more than one fund or other accounts. More specifically, portfolio managers who manage multiple funds are presented with the following potential conflicts:

The management of multiple accounts may result in a portfolio manager devoting unequal time and attention to the management of each account. The management of multiple funds and accounts also may give rise to potential conflicts of interest if the funds and accounts have different objectives, benchmarks, time horizons, and fees as the portfolio manager must allocate his time and investment ideas across multiple funds and accounts.

• With respect to securities transactions for the Funds, the Advisor determines which broker to use to execute each order, consistent with the duty to seek best execution of the transaction. The portfolio manager may execute transactions for another

fund or account that may adversely impact the value of securities held by the Fund. Securities selected for funds or accounts other than the Funds may outperform the securities selected for the Funds.

- The appearance of a conflict of interest may arise where the advisor has an incentive, such as a performance-based management fee. The management of personal accounts may give rise to potential conflicts of interest; there is no assurance that the Funds' code of ethics will adequately address such conflicts. One of the portfolio manager's numerous responsibilities is to assist in the sale of Fund shares. Because the portfolio manager's compensation is indirectly linked to the sale of Fund shares, he may have an incentive to devote time to marketing efforts designed to increase sales of Fund shares.
- Although the portfolio manager generally does not trade securities in this own personal account, the Funds have adopted a code of ethics that, among other things, permits personal trading by employees under conditions where it has been determined that such trades would not adversely impact client accounts. Nevertheless, the management of personal accounts may give rise to potential conflicts of interest, and there is no assurance that these codes of ethics will adequately address such conflicts.

The Advisor and the Funds have adopted certain compliance procedures which are designed to address these types of conflicts. However, there is no guarantee that such procedures will detect each and every situation in which a conflict arises.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Advisor and the Funds have adopted codes of ethics under Rule 17j-1(c) of the 1940 Act. The purpose of each code is to avoid potential conflicts of interest and to prevent fraud, deception or misconduct with respect to the Funds. Such codes of ethics permit personnel covered by the codes to invest in securities that may be purchased by the Funds, subject to the restrictions of the code. The codes are filed as exhibits to the Trust's registration statement.

TRANSFER AGENT, FUND ACCOUNTING AGENT AND ADMINISTRATOR

Mutual Shareholder Services, LLC ("MSS"), 8000 Town Centre Drive, Suite 400, Broadview Heights, Ohio 44147-4003, acts as the transfer agent ("Transfer Agent") for the Funds. MSS maintains the records of the shareholder's account, answers shareholders' inquiries concerning their accounts, processes purchases and redemptions of the Funds' shares, acts as dividend and distribution disbursing agent and performs other transfer agent and shareholder service functions. MSS receives an annual fee from the Trust of \$11.50 per shareholder (subject to a minimum monthly fee of \$775.00) for these transfer agency services.

In addition, MSS provides the Funds with fund accounting services, which includes certain monthly reports, record-keeping and other management-related services. For its services as fund accountant ("Fund Accounting Agent"), MSS receives an annual fee from the Trust based on the average value of the Funds. These fees are: from \$0 to \$25 million in assets the annual fee is \$21,000, from \$25 million to \$50 million in assets the annual fee is \$30,500, from \$50 million to \$75 million in assets the annual fee is \$36,250, from \$75 million to \$100 million in assets the annual fee is \$42,000, from \$100 million to \$125 million in assets the annual fee is \$47,750, from \$125 million to \$150 million in assets the annual fee is \$53,500, from \$150 million to \$200 million in assets the annual fee is \$59,250, from \$200 million to \$300 million in assets the annual fee is \$59,250 plus .01% on assets greater than \$200 million, and for assets above \$300 million the annual fee is \$69,250 plus .005% on assets greater than \$300 million. The Trust will receive a discount ranging from 10% to 50% depending on the net assets of each Fund until the Trust reaches \$10 million in assets. Empirical Administration, LLC, an affiliate of MSS, also provides asset and income diversification testing, preparation of board materials and meeting minutes for an additional \$500 per month for one fund plus \$100 per month per fund for each Fund over one (\$1,000 per month on a Trust-wide basis). The table below provides information about the fees paid by the Funds to MSS and Empirical Administration, LLC for the fiscal period indicated:

	Monthly			
	<u>Risk-On</u> Risk-Off	Income	<u>Defensive</u> Growth	Buyback
	Fund	Fund	Fund	Fund
Fiscal year ended June 30, 2021	\$40,768	\$31,043	\$23,797	\$26,889
Fiscal year ended June 30, 2022	\$34,716	\$38,419	\$21,431	\$24,786
Fiscal year ended June 30, 2023	\$27,868	\$40,292	\$20,345	\$23,783

COMPLIANCE CONSULTANT

Roach Corp., with a principal office located at 792 Chestnut Street, Waban, MA 02468, provides a Chief Compliance Officer (Robert Roach, who is also President of the Trust) to the Trust as well as related compliance services pursuant to a consulting agreement between

the Trust and Roach Corp. The Trust incurred the following compliance fees \$42,798, \$46,476, and \$47,825 for the respective fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, June 30, 2022, and June 30, 2023.

CUSTODIAN

Fifth Third Bank, located at 38 Fountain Square Plaza, Cincinnati, Ohio, 45263, serves as the custodian of the Funds and has custody of all securities and cash of the Funds. The custodian, among other things, attends to the collection of principal and income and payment for and collection of proceeds of securities bought and sold by the Funds.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Funds' independent registered public accounting firm is Cohen & Company, Ltd., 1835 Market Street, Suite 310, Philadelphia, PA 19103. Shareholders will receive annual financial statements, together with a report of independent registered public accounting firm, and semiannual unaudited financial statements of the Funds. The independent registered public accounting firm will report on the Funds' annual financial statements, review certain regulatory reports and the Funds' income tax returns, and perform other professional accounting, auditing, tax and advisory services when engaged to do so by the Funds.

COUNSEL

Thompson Hine LLP, 41 South High Street, Suite 1700, Columbus, Ohio 43215 serves as the Trust's legal counsel

DISTRIBUTOR(s)

Foreside Fund Services, LLC, located at Three Canal Plaza, Suite 100, Portland, ME 04101 (a "Distributor") served as the principal underwriter and national distributor for the shares of the Funds until November 7, 2018, pursuant to an underwriting agreement with the Trust (an "Underwriting Agreement"). Arbor Court Capital, LLC, located at 8000 Town Centre Drive, Suite 300, Broadview Heights, OH 44147 (a "Distributor") serves as the principal underwriter and national distributor for the shares of the Trust, commencing on or about November 7, 2018, pursuant to an agreement for distribution services with the Trust (an "Underwriting Agreement"). Each Distributor is registered as a broker-dealer under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and each state's securities laws and is a member of the FINRA. The offering of the Funds' shares is continuous. Each Underwriting Agreement provides that the Distributor, as agent in connection with the distribution of the Funds' shares, will use best efforts to facilitate the sale of the Funds' shares.

Each Underwriting Agreement provides that, unless sooner terminated, it will continue in effect for two years initially and thereafter shall continue from year to year, subject to annual approval by (a) the Board or a vote of a majority of the outstanding shares, and (b) by a majority of the Trustees who are not interested persons of the Trust or of the Distributor by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval.

Each Underwriting Agreement may be terminated by the Funds at any time, without the payment of any penalty, by vote of a majority of the entire Board of the Trust or by vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of each Fund on 60 days' written notice to the Distributor, or by the Distributor at any time, without the payment of any penalty, on 60 days' written notice to the Fund. Each Underwriting Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of its assignment.

Each Distributor may enter into selling agreements with broker-dealers that solicit orders for the sale of shares of the Funds and may allow concessions to dealers that sell shares of the Funds.

Each Distributor receives the portion of the sales charge on all direct initial investments in a Fund and on all investments in accounts with no designated dealer of record.

12b-1 Plans

The Funds have adopted plans (the "Plans") pursuant to Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act. Rule 12b-1 provides that any payments made by the Funds in connection with the distribution of its shares may be made only pursuant to a written plan describing all material aspects of the proposed financing of the distribution and also requires that all agreements with any person relating to the implementation of a plan must be in writing. Under the Funds' Plan related to the Class A Shares, the Funds incur an annual fee of up to 0.25% of the average daily net assets of the Fund's Class A Shares (the "Class A 12b-1 Fee"). Under the Funds' Plan related to the Class U Shares, the Funds incur an annual fee of up to 1.00% of the average daily net assets of the respective Fund's Class U Shares (the "Class U 12b-1 Fee"). The Class A 12b-1 Fee, and Class U 12b-1 Fee are collectively referred to as the "12b-1 Fee"). The Plans are compensation style plans, which means the 12b-1 payments are made regardless of the cost of providing related services. Payments are deemed to be made to the Distributor. The Distributor then disperses the 12b-1 monies to broker dealers, Service Organizations, and other as described

below. The Advisor is deemed to indirectly benefit from the Plans to the extent they increase the Funds' assets because the advisory fee is based on net assets.

Each 12b-1 Fee may be used to pay a fee on a quarterly or other periodic basis to broker-dealers, including the Distributor and affiliates of the Distributor, the Advisor, banks and savings and loan institutions and their affiliates and associated broker-dealers that have entered into Service Agreements with the Distributor ("Service Organizations") of annual amounts of up to 0.25% of the average net asset value of all shares of the respective Fund owned by shareholders with whom the Service Organization has a servicing relationship. The 12b-1 Fees may also be used to reimburse parties for shareholder services and distribution related expenses.

The Funds' Plan continues in effect from year to year, provided that each such continuance is approved at least annually by a vote of the Trust's Board of Trustees, including a majority of the trustees who are not "interested persons" of the Trust and have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or in any agreements entered into in connection with the Plan (the "Qualified Trustees"). The Funds' Plan may be terminated at any time, without penalty, by vote of a majority of the Qualified Trustees of a Fund or by vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of a Fund. Any amendment to a Plan to increase materially the amount a Fund is authorized to pay thereunder would require approval by a majority of the outstanding shares of the respective Fund. Other material amendments to the Funds' Plan would be required to be approved by vote of the Board of Trustees, including a majority of the Qualified Trustees.

Dealers who are holders or dealers of record for accounts in one or more of the Funds may receive payments from 12b-1 Fees. A dealer's marketing support services may include business planning assistance, educating dealer personnel about the Funds and shareholder financial planning needs, placement on the dealer's preferred or recommended fund list, and access to sales meetings, sales representatives and management representatives of the dealer. Dealers are compensated differently depending upon, among other factors, the level and/or type of marketing support provided by the dealer. From time to time, the Advisor, at its expense, may provide additional compensation to dealers that sell or arrange for the sale of shares of the Funds. Such compensation provided by the Advisor may include financial assistance to dealers that enable the Advisor to participate in and/or present at conferences or seminars, sales or training programs for invited registered representatives and other employees, client and investor events and other dealer-sponsored events. Other compensation may be offered to the extent not prohibited by state laws or any self-regulatory agency, such as FINRA. The Advisor may make payments for events they deem appropriate, subject to applicable law. These payments may vary depending upon the nature of the event.

The table below states the amounts incurred by the applicable share classes of each Fund, under the Plans for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023:

Fund	Class A Shares	Class U Shares
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	\$3,649	\$16,339
Income Fund	\$9,395	\$18,140
Defensive Growth Fund	\$1,054	\$3,984
Buyback Fund	\$3,382	\$2,200

The table below states the principal types of activities for which the Funds made payments under the Plans for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023:

	<u>Monthly Risk-</u> On Risk-Off <u>Fund</u>	<u>Income</u> <u>Fund</u>	<u>Defensive</u> <u>Growth</u> <u>Fund</u>	<u>Buyback</u> <u>Fund</u>
Advertising & Sales Literature	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Printing & Mailing of Prospectuses	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Compensation to Underwriters	\$3,662	\$3,662	\$3,360	\$3,058
Compensation to Broker Dealers	\$13,540	\$17,915	\$1,218	\$2,106
Compensation to Sales Personnel	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Interest, Carrying or other Financial Charges	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Other	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0

The tables below state the gross and retained commissions (load) by the principal underwriter (Distributor) for the last three fiscal years. However, the Distributor may use all or a portion of the retained commission to further promote sales of Fund shares by making marketing related payments to various parties.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

			Monthly	
Fund	Defensive		Risk-On	Large Cap
	Growth	Income	Risk-Off	Buyback
Gross Underwriting Commissions	\$0	\$23,784.08	\$30.88	\$62.77
Retained Underwriting Commissions	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

			Monthly	
Fund	Defensive		Risk-On	Large Cap
	Growth	Income	Risk-Off	Buyback
Gross Underwriting Commissions	\$675.00	\$96,947.79	\$189.00	\$9,811.62
Retained Underwriting Commissions	\$75.00	\$13,921.05	\$20.79	\$1,037.30

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

			Monthly	
Fund	Defensive		Risk-On	Large Cap
	Growth	Income	Risk-Off	Buyback
Gross Underwriting Commissions	\$252.92	\$21,444.92	\$550.93	\$6,736.36
Retained Underwriting Commissions	\$28.46	\$3,373.37	\$59.33	\$807.22

PROXY VOTING POLICY

The Board of Trustees of the Trust has delegated responsibilities for decisions regarding proxy voting for securities held by the Funds to the Advisor. The Advisor may delegate such proxy voting to a third-party proxy voting service provider. The Advisor will vote such proxies in accordance with its proxy policies and procedures. In some instances, the Advisor may be asked to cast a proxy vote that presents a conflict between its interests and the interests of a Fund's shareholders. In such a case, the Trust's policy requires that the Advisor abstain from making a voting decision and to forward all necessary proxy voting materials to the Trust to enable the Board of Trustees to make a voting decision. When the Board of Trustees of the Trust is required to make a proxy voting decision, only the Trustees without a conflict of interest with regard to the security in question or the matter to be voted upon shall be permitted to participate in the decision of how the Fund's vote will be cast. The Advisor has developed a detailed proxy voting policy that has been approved by the Board of Trustees.

The Advisor's policies and procedures state that the Advisor generally relies on the individual portfolio manager(s) to make the final decision on how to cast proxy votes. When exercising its voting responsibilities, the Advisor's policies call for an emphasis on (i) accountability of management of the company to its board, and of the board to the company's shareholders, (ii) alignment of management and shareholder interests and (iii) transparency through timely disclosure of important information about a company's operations and financial performance. While no set of proxy voting guidelines can anticipate all situations that may arise, the Advisor's general philosophy when proposals involve certain matters. The following is a summary of those guidelines:

- electing a board of directors a board should be composed primarily of independent directors, and key board committees should be entirely independent. The Advisor generally supports efforts to declassify boards or other measures that permit shareholders to remove a majority of directors at any time;
- approving independent auditors the relationship between a company and its auditors should be limited primarily to the audit engagement;
- providing equity-based compensation plans appropriately designed equity-based compensation plans, approved by shareholders, can be an effective way to align the interests of shareholders and the interests of directors, management, and employees by providing incentives to increase shareholder value. Conversely, the Advisor is opposed to plans that substantially dilute ownership interests in the company, provide participants with excessive awards, or have inherently objectionable structural features;
- corporate voting structure shareholders should have voting power equal to their equity interest in the company and should be able to approve or reject changes to a company's by-laws by a simple majority vote. The Advisor opposes super-majority requirements and generally support the ability of shareholders to cumulate their votes for the election of directors; and
- shareholder rights plans shareholder rights plans, also known as poison pills, may tend to entrench current management, which the Advisor generally considers to have a negative impact on shareholder value.

Information on how the Funds voted proxies relating to portfolio securities is available without charge, upon request, by calling 877-217-8501 or on the SEC's Internet site at www.sec.gov. In addition, a copy of the Funds' proxy voting policies and procedures is also available by calling 877-217-8501 and will be sent within three business days of receipt of a request.

The Advisor's Proxy Voting Policies are attached hereto as Appendix B.

Portfolio Turnover

Turnover rates are primarily a function of a Fund's response to market conditions. The portfolio turnover rates for the Funds during the last two fiscal years ended June 30 are as follows (rounded to whole percent):

	<u>Monthly</u> <u>Risk-On</u> <u>Risk-Off</u> <u>Fund</u>	<u>Income</u> <u>Fund</u>	<u>Defensive</u> <u>Growth</u> <u>Fund</u>	<u>Buyback</u> <u>Fund</u>
June 30, 2022	690.99%	571.51%	1,213.41%	433.66%
June 30, 2023	326.36%	446.89%	500.70%	226.73%

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS

Purchases and sales of securities on a securities exchange are effected by brokers, and the Funds pay a brokerage commission for this service. In transactions on stock exchanges, these commissions are negotiated. In the over-the-counter market, securities (e.g., debt securities) are normally traded on a "net" basis with dealers acting as principal for their own accounts without a stated commission, although the price of the securities usually includes a profit to the dealer. In underwritten offerings, securities are purchased at a fixed price, which includes an amount of compensation to the underwriter, generally referred to as the underwriter's concession or discount.

The primary consideration in placing portfolio security transactions with broker-dealers for execution is to obtain and maintain the availability of execution at the most favorable prices and in the most effective manner possible. The Advisor attempts to achieve this result by selecting broker-dealers to execute portfolio transactions on behalf of the Funds on the basis of the broker-dealers' professional capability, the value and quality of their brokerage services and the level of their brokerage commissions.

Although commissions paid on every transaction will, in the judgment of the Advisor, be reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage services provided, under the Investment Advisory Agreement and as permitted by Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Advisor may cause the Funds to pay a commission to broker-dealers who provide brokerage and research services to the Advisor for effecting a securities transaction for the Funds. Such commission may exceed the amount other broker-dealers would have charged for the transaction, if the Advisor determines in good faith that the greater commission is reasonable relative to the value of the brokerage and the research and investment information services provided by the executing broker-dealer viewed in terms of either a particular transaction or the Advisor's overall responsibilities to the Funds and to its other clients. Such research and investment information services, the advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities, the availability of securities or of purchasers or sellers of securities, furnishing analyses and reports concerning issuers, industries, securities, economic factors and trends, portfolio strategy and the performance of accounts, and effecting securities transactions and performing functions incidental thereto such as clearance and settlement.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC received \$15,897 in total brokerage commissions on a dollar volume of trades of \$90,767,155. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to Gar Wood Securities, LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by Gar Wood Securities, LLC. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, Gar Wood Securities, LLC received \$24,958 in total brokerage commissions on a dollar volume of trades of \$94,191,106. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by J.P. Morgan Securities to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC received \$2,634 in total brokerage commissions on a dollar volume of trades of \$349,330. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to Gar Wood Securities, LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by Gar Wood Securities, LLC, in part, because of research services indirectly provided by Gar Wood Securities, LLC. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, Gar Wood Securities, LLC received \$86,250 in total brokerage commissions on a dollar volume of trades of \$321,766,079. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the Advisor allocated a portion of brokerage trades to Gar Wood Securities, LLC

Research provided by brokers may be used for the benefit of all of the clients of the Advisor and not solely or necessarily for the benefit of the Funds. The Advisor's investment management personnel attempt to evaluate the quality of research provided by brokers. Results of this effort are sometimes used by the Advisor as a consideration in the selection of brokers to execute portfolio transactions.

The investment advisory fees that the Funds pay to the Advisor will not be reduced as a consequence of the Advisor's receipt of brokerage and research services. To the extent the Funds' portfolio transactions are used to obtain such services, the brokerage commissions paid by the Funds will exceed those that might otherwise be paid, by an amount, which cannot be presently determined. Such services would be useful and of value to the Advisor in serving the Funds and other clients and, conversely, such services obtained by the placement of brokerage business of other clients would be useful to the Advisor in carrying out its obligations to the Funds.

Certain investments may be appropriate for the Funds and also for other clients advised by the Advisor. Investment decisions for the Funds and other clients are made with a view to achieving their respective investment objectives and after consideration of such factors as their current holdings, availability of cash for investment and the size of their investments generally. To the extent possible, Fund transactions are traded separately from trades of other clients advised by the Advisor. Occasionally, a particular security may be bought or sold for one or more clients in different amounts. In such event, and to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations, such transactions with respect to the Advisor will be allocated among the clients in a manner believed to be equitable to each. Ordinarily, such allocation will be made on the basis of the weighted average price of such transactions effected during a trading day. The Funds will not acquire portfolio securities issued by, or enter into repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements with, the Advisor or its affiliates.

The table below provides information about the broker commissions paid by the Funds for the last three fiscal years or periods:

	<u>Monthly</u> <u>Risk-On</u> <u>Risk-Off</u> Fund	<u>Income</u> Fund	<u>Defensive</u> <u>Growth</u> Fund	<u>Buyback</u> Fund
June 30, 2023	\$15,577	\$59,726	\$6,526	\$3,439
June 30, 2022	\$26,291	\$31,351	\$27,609	\$7,311
June 30, 2021	\$28,251	\$32,560	\$20,397	\$8,316

Differences in commission paid, over time are primarily the result of changes in portfolio turnover and Fund size.

PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Fund shares may be purchased from investment dealers who have sales agreements with the Funds' Distributor or from the Fund directly. As described in the Prospectus, the Funds provide you with alternative ways of purchasing Fund shares based upon your individual investment needs and preferences by offering Class A, and Class U shares as described below. Each Fund assesses a 1% redemption fee for short-term trading of shares sold within 90 days of purchase.

REDUCTION OF UP-FRONT SALES CHARGE ON CLASS A AND CLASS U SHARES

Letters of Intent

An investor may qualify for a reduced sales charge on Class A and Class U shares immediately by stating his or her intention to invest in Class A or Class U shares of the Fund, during a 13-month period, an amount that would qualify for a reduced sales charge shown in the Funds' Prospectus under "How to Buy Shares — Class A and Class U Shares" and by signing a non-binding Letter of Intent, which may be signed at any time within 90 days after the first investment to be included under the Letter of Intent. After signing the Letter of Intent, each investment in Class A or Class U shares made by an investor will be entitled to the sales charge applicable to the total investment indicated in the Letter of Intent. If an investor does not complete the purchases under the Letter of Intent within the 13-month period, the sales charge will be adjusted upward, corresponding to the amount actually purchased. When an investor signs a Letter of Intent, Class A or Class U shares of the Fund with a value of up to 5% of the amount specified in the Letter of Intent will be restricted. If the total purchases of Class A or Class U shares made by an investor under the Letter of Intent, less redemptions, prior to the expiration of the 13-month period equals or exceeds the amount specified in the Letter of Intent, the restriction on the shares will be removed. In addition, if the total purchases of Class A or Class U shares exceed the amount specified and qualify for a further quantity discount, the Fund will make a retroactive price adjustment and will apply the adjustment to purchase additional Class A or Class U shares at the then current applicable offering price. If an investor does not complete purchases under a Letter of Intent, the sales charge is adjusted upward, and, if after written notice to the investor, he or she does not pay the increased sales charge, sufficient Class A or Class U restricted shares will be redeemed at the current net asset value to pay such charge.

Rights of Accumulation

A right of accumulation ("ROA") permits an investor to aggregate shares owned by the investor, his spouse, children and grandchildren under 21 (cumulatively, the "Investor") in the Funds to reach a breakpoint discount. This includes accounts held with other financial institutions and accounts established for a single trust estate or single fiduciary account, including a qualified retirement plan such as an IRA, 401(k) or 403(b) plan (some restrictions may apply). The value of shares eligible for a cumulative quantity discount equals the cumulative cost of the shares purchased (not including reinvested dividends) or the current account market value; whichever is greater. The current market value of the shares is determined by multiplying the number of shares by the previous day's net asset value.

- (a) Investor's current purchase of Class A or Class U shares in the Funds; and
- (b) The net asset value (at the close of business on the previous day) of the Class A or Class U shares of the Funds held by Investor.

For example, if Investor owned Class A shares worth \$40,000 at the current net asset value and purchased an additional \$10,000 of Class A shares, the sales charge for the \$10,000 purchase would be at the rate applicable to a single \$50,000 purchase.

To qualify for a ROA on a purchase of Class A or Class U shares through a broker-dealer, when each purchase is made, the individual investor or the broker-dealer must provide the respective Fund with sufficient information to verify that the purchase qualifies for the discount.

Investments of \$1 Million or More

With respect to Class A and Class U shares, if you invest \$1 million or more, either as a lump sum or through our rights of accumulation quantity discount or letter of intent programs, you can buy Class A or Class U shares without an initial sales charge. However, you may be subject to a 1% CDSC on shares redeemed prior to 12 months after purchase (excluding shares purchased with reinvested dividends and/or distributions).

WAIVERS OF UP-FRONT SALES CHARGE ON CLASS A AND CLASS U SHARES

The Prospectus describes the classes of persons that may purchase shares without an up-front sales charge. The elimination of the up-front sales charge for redemptions by certain classes of persons is provided because of anticipated economies of scale and sales related efforts.

To qualify for a waiver of the up-front sales charge on a purchase of Class A or Class U shares through a broker-dealer, when each purchase is made, the individual investor or the broker-dealer must provide the Funds with sufficient information to verify that the purchase qualifies for the discount.

The Funds make available, free of charge, more information about sales charge reductions and waivers through the prospectus or through your financial advisor.

NET ASSET VALUE

For the Funds, net asset value ("NAV") per share is determined by dividing the total value of that Fund's assets, less any liabilities, by the number of shares of that Fund outstanding.

The net asset value per share of the Funds is determined by the Administrator as of the close of regular trading on the New York Stock Exchange (normally 4:00 p.m., Eastern Time) on each day when the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading. The New York Stock Exchange is closed on the following holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day as observed.

Assets for which market quotations are available are valued as follows: (a) each listed security is valued at its closing price obtained from the respective primary exchange on which the security is listed, or, if there were no sales on that day, at its last reported current bid price; (b) each unlisted security is valued at the last current bid price obtained from the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System; (c) United States Government and agency obligations are valued based upon bid quotations from the Federal Reserve Bank for identical or similar obligations; (d) short-term money market instruments (such as certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances and commercial paper) are most often valued by bid quotation or by reference to bid quotations of available yields for similar instruments of issuers with similar credit ratings. All of these prices are obtained by the Administrator from services, which

collect and disseminate such market prices. Bid quotations for short-term money market instruments reported by such a service are the bid quotations reported to it by the major dealers.

When approved by the Trustees, certain securities may be valued on the basis of valuations provided by an independent pricing service when such prices the Trustees believe reflect the fair value of such securities. These securities would normally be those, which have no available recent market value, have few outstanding shares and therefore infrequent trades, or for which there is a lack of consensus on the value, with quoted prices covering a wide range. The lack of consensus would result from relatively unusual circumstances such as no trading in the security for long periods of time, or a company's involvement in merger or acquisition activity, with widely varying valuations placed on the company's assets or stock. Prices provided by an independent pricing service may be determined without exclusive reliance on quoted prices and may take into account appropriate factors such as institutional-size trading in similar groups of securities, yield, quality, coupon rate, maturity, type of issue, trading characteristics and other market data.

In the absence of an ascertainable market value, assets are valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund's Advisor using methods and procedures reviewed and approved by the Trustees.

Short-term securities with remaining maturities of sixty days or less for which market quotations and information pricing service are not readily available are valued either at amortized cost or at original cost plus accrued interest, both of which approximate current value.

TAX INFORMATION

The Funds have qualified, and intend to continue to qualify, as a regulated investment company, or "RIC", under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"); except for the Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund for the tax year ended June 30, 2020. This Fund was taxed as a "C" corporation, but intents to re-qualify as a RIC for the current and future tax years. This Fund did not qualify as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code because it did not meet certain quarterly diversification tests. Accordingly, the Fund is treated as a "C" corporation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. As a "C" corporation, the Fund was subject to federal income taxes on any taxable income for the fiscal year. However, the Fund had no net taxable income for the fiscal year and consequently did not incur any tax liability. The Fund expects to meet qualifications and plans to be taxed as a RIC in future years. Qualification generally will relieve the Funds of liability for federal income taxes. If for any taxable year a Fund does not qualify for the special tax treatment afforded regulated investment companies, all of its taxable income will be subject to federal tax at regular corporate rates (without any deduction for distributions to its shareholders). In such event, dividend distributions would be taxable to shareholders to the extent of the Fund's earnings and profits, and would be eligible for the dividends-received deduction for corporations.

The Funds' net realized capital gains from securities transactions will be distributed only after reducing such gains by the amount of any available capital loss carry forwards. Capital losses incurred in tax years beginning after December 22, 2010 may now be carried forward indefinitely and retain the character of the original loss. Under previously enacted laws, capital losses could be carried forward to offset any capital gains only for eight years, and carried forward as short-term capital, irrespective of the character of the original loss. Capital loss carryforwards are available to offset future realized capital gains. To the extent that these carryforwards are used to offset future capital gains it is probable that the amount offset will not be distributed to shareholders.

At June 30, 2023, the Funds below had capital loss carry forwards for federal income tax purposes available to offset future capital gains as follows:

	Non-Expiring	Non-Expiring	
	Short-Term	Long-Term	<u>Total</u>
Defensive Growth Fund	\$9,638,776	\$533,430	\$10,172,206
Income Fund	\$10,869,434	\$148,564	\$11,017,998
Monthly Risk-On Risk-Off Fund	\$10,770,043	\$2,318,553	\$13,088,596
Buyback Fund	\$249,955	\$0	\$249,955

INVESTMENTS IN FOREIGN SECURITIES

The Funds may be subject to foreign withholding taxes on income from certain foreign securities. This, in turn, could reduce the Funds' income dividends paid to you.

Pass-Through of Foreign Tax Credits. The Funds may be subject to certain taxes imposed by the countries in which it invests or operates. If a Fund qualifies as a regulated investment company and if more than 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets at the close of any taxable year consists of stocks or securities of foreign corporations, the Fund may elect, for U.S. federal income tax purposes,

to treat any foreign taxes paid by the Fund that qualify as income or similar taxes under U.S. income tax principles as having been paid by the Fund's shareholders. *It is not likely that the Funds will be able to do so*. For any year for which a Fund makes such an election, each shareholder will be required to include in its gross income an amount equal to its allocable share of such taxes paid by the Fund and the shareholders will be entitled, subject to certain limitations, to credit their portions of these amounts against their U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, or to deduct their portions from their U.S. taxable income, if any. No deduction for foreign taxes may be claimed by individuals who do not itemize deductions. In any year in which it elects to "pass through" foreign taxes to shareholders, the Fund will notify shareholders within 60 days after the close of the Fund's taxable year of the amount of such taxes and the sources of its income. Furthermore, the amount of the foreign tax credit that is available may be limited to the extent that dividends from a foreign corporation qualify for the lower tax rate on "qualified dividend income."

Effect of Foreign Debt Investments and Hedging on Distributions. Under the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates, which occur between the time a Fund accrues receivables or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, and the time the Fund actually collects such receivables or pays such liabilities, generally are treated as ordinary income or ordinary loss. Similarly, on disposition of debt securities denominated in a foreign currency and on disposition of certain options and futures contracts, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in the value of foreign currency between the date of acquisition of the security or contract and the date of disposition also are treated as ordinary gain or loss. These gains when distributed are taxable to you as ordinary income, and any losses reduce the Fund's ordinary income otherwise available for distribution to you. *This treatment could increase or decrease the Fund's ordinary income distributions to you, and may cause some or all of the Fund's previously distributed income to be classified as a return of capital.* A return of capital generally is not taxable to you, but reduces the tax basis of your shares in the Fund. Any return of capital in excess of your basis, however, is taxable as a capital gain.

PFIC securities. The Funds may invest in securities of foreign entities that could be deemed for tax purposes to be passive foreign investment companies (PFICs). In general, a foreign corporation is classified as a PFIC if at least one-half of its assets constitute investment-type assets, or 75% or more of its gross income is investment-type income. When investing in PFIC securities, a Fund may elect to mark-to-market a PFIC and recognize any gains at the end of its fiscal and excise (described above) tax years. Deductions for losses are allowable only to the extent of any current or previously recognized gains. These gains (reduced by allowable losses) are treated as ordinary income that the Fund is required to distribute, even though it has not sold the securities. You should also be aware that distributions from a PFIC are generally not eligible for the reduced rate of tax on "qualified dividend income." In the alternative, a Fund may elect to treat the PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" (a "QEF election"), in which case the Fund would be required to include its share of the company's income and net capital gains annually, regardless of whether it receives distributions from the company. The QEF and mark-to-market elections may require the Fund to sell securities it would have otherwise continued to hold in order to make distributions to shareholders to avoid any Fund-level tax. Income from investments in PFICs generally will not qualify for treatment as qualified dividend income.

BACKUP WITHHOLDING

The Funds may be required to withhold U.S. federal income tax at the fourth lowest tax rate applicable to unmarried individuals (currently 28%) of all reportable payments, including dividends, capital gain distributions and redemptions payable to shareholders who fail to provide the Funds with their correct taxpayer identification number or to make required certifications, or who have been notified by the IRS that they are subject to backup withholding. Corporate shareholders and certain other shareholders specified in the Code generally are exempt from such backup withholding. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be credited against the shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability.

FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS

The United States imposes a withholding tax (at a 30% or lower treaty rate) on all Fund dividends of ordinary income. Capital gain dividends paid by a Fund from its net long-term capital gains and exempt-interest dividends are generally exempt from this withholding tax. The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (2004 Tax Act) amends these withholding tax provisions to exempt most dividends paid by the Fund from short-term capital gains and U.S. source interest income to the extent such gains and income would be exempt if earned directly by the non-U.S. investor. Under 2004 Tax Act, ordinary dividends designated as short-term capital gain dividends and interest-related dividends designated as a payment out of qualified interest income will generally not be subject to a U.S. withholding tax, *provided* you certify you are a non-U.S. investor. These exemptions from withholding are effective for distributions of income earned by the Fund in its fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2004 and ending before January 1, 2008.

The 2004 Tax Act also provides a partial exemption from U.S. estate tax for shares in the Funds held by the estate of a non-U.S. decedent. The amount treated as exempt is based on the proportion of assets in the Fund at the end of the quarter immediately preceding the decedent's death that would be exempt if held directly by the non-U.S. investor. This provision applies to decedents dying after December 31, 2004 and before January 1, 2008.

Payments to a shareholder that is either a foreign financial institution ("FFI") or a non-financial foreign entity ("NFFE") within the meaning of the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA") may be subject to a generally nonrefundable 30% withholding tax on: (a) income dividends paid by a Fund after June 30, 2014 and (b) certain capital gain distributions and the proceeds arising from the sale of Fund shares paid by a Fund after December 31, 2016. FATCA withholding tax generally can be avoided: (a) by an FFI, subject to any applicable intergovernmental agreement or other exemption, if it enters into a valid agreement with the IRS to, among other requirements, report required information about certain direct and indirect ownership of foreign financial accounts held by U.S. persons with the FFI and (b) by an NFFE, if it: (i) certifies that it has no substantial U.S. persons as owners or (ii) if it does have such owners, reports information relating to them. A Fund may disclose the information that it receives from its shareholders to the IRS, non-U.S. taxing authorities or other parties as necessary to comply with FATCA. Withholding also may be required if a foreign entity that is a shareholder of a Fund fails to provide the Fund with appropriate certifications or other documentation concerning its status under FATCA.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited financial statements and notes thereto in the Funds' Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 (the "<u>Annual Report</u>") are incorporated by reference into this SAI. No other parts of the Annual Report are incorporated by reference herein. The financial statements included in the Annual Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, have been audited by Cohen & Company, Ltd., the Funds' independent registered public accounting firm, whose report thereon also appears in the Annual Report and is incorporated by reference into this SAI. Prior annual reports where audited by BBD, LLP. Copies of the Annual Report may be obtained at no charge by writing to the address listed on the front of the SAI or by calling 877-217-8501.

APPENDIX A-DESCRIPTION OF COMMERCIAL PAPER AND BOND RATINGS

Description of Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"), Short-Term Debt Ratings

Prime-1. Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 ("P-1") have a superior ability for repayment of senior short-term debt obligations. P-1 repayment ability will often be evidenced by many of the following characteristics: leading market positions in well-established industries; high rates of return on funds employed; conservative capitalization structure with moderate reliance on debt and ample asset protection; broad margins in earnings coverage of fixed financial charges and high internal cash generation; well-established access to a range of financial markets and assured sources of alternate liquidity.

Prime-2. Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 ("P-2") have a strong ability for repayment of senior short-term debt obligations. This will normally be evidenced by many of the characteristics cited above but to a lesser degree. Earnings trends and coverage ratios, while sound, may be more subject to variation. Capitalization characteristics, while still appropriate, may be more affected by external conditions. Ample alternate liquidity is maintained.

Description of Standard & Poor's Ratings Group ("Standard & Poor's"), Commercial Paper Ratings

A. Issues assigned this highest rating are regarded as having the greatest capacity for timely payment. Issues in this category are delineated with the numbers 1, 2, and 3 to indicate the relative degree of safety. A-1. This designation indicates that the degree of safety regarding timely payment is strong. Those issues determined to possess extremely strong safety characteristics are denoted with a plus (+) sign designation. A-2. Capacity for timely payment on issues with this designation is satisfactory. However, the relative degree of safety is not as high for issues designated A-1.

Description of Moody's Long-Term Debt Ratings

Aaa. Bonds which are rated Aaa are judged to be of the best quality. They carry the smallest degree of investment risk and are generally referred to as "gilt edged." Interest payments are protected by a large or by an exceptionally stable margin, and principal is secure. While the various protective elements are likely to change, such changes as can be visualized are most unlikely to impair the fundamentally strong position of such issues; Aa. Bonds which are rated Aa are judged to be of high quality by all standards. Together with the Aaa group they comprise what are generally known as high-grade bonds. They are rated lower than the best bonds, because margins of protection may not be as large as in Aaa securities or fluctuation of protective elements may be of greater amplitude or there may be other elements present which make the long-term risk appear somewhat larger than the Aaa securities; A. Bonds which are rated A possess many favorable investment attributes and are considered as upper-medium-grade obligations. Factors giving security to principal and interest are considered adequate, but elements may be present which suggest a susceptibility to impairment some time in the future; Baa. Bonds which are rated Baa are considered as medium-grade obligations (*i.e.*, they are neither highly protected nor poorly secured). Interest payments and principal security appear adequate for the present, but certain protective elements may be lacking or may be characteristically unreliable over any great length of time. Such bonds lack outstanding investment characteristics and in fact have speculative characteristics as well; Ba. Bonds which are rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements; their future cannot be considered as well-assured. Often the protection of interest and principal payments may be very moderate and thereby not well safeguarded during both good and bad times over the future. Uncertainty of position characterizes bonds in this class; B. Bonds which are rated B generally lack characteristics of the desirable investment. Assurance of interest and principal payments or of maintenance of other terms of the contract over any long period of time may be small; Caa. Bonds which are rated Caa are of poor standing. Such issues may be in default or there may be present elements of danger with respect to principal or interest; Ca. Bonds which are rated Ca represent obligations which are speculative in a high degree. Such issues are often in default or have other marked shortcomings; C. Bonds which are rated C are the lowest rated class of bonds, and issues so rated can be regarded as having extremely poor prospects of ever attaining any real investment standing.

Note: Moody's applies numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 in each generic rating classification from Aa to B. The modifier 1 indicates that the company ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates that the company ranks in the lower end of its generic rating category.

Description of Standard & Poor's Corporate Debt Ratings

AAA. Debt rated AAA has the highest rating assigned by Standard & Poor's. Capacity to pay interest and repay principal is extremely strong; AA. Debt Rated AA has a very strong capacity to pay interest and repay principal and differs from the higher rated issues only in small degree; A. Debt rated A has a strong capacity to pay interest and repay principal although it is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than debt in higher rated categories; BBB. Debt rated BBB is regarded as having an adequate capacity to pay interest and repay principal. Whereas it normally exhibits adequate protection parameters, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity to pay interest and repay principal for debt in this category than in higher rated categories; BB, B, CCC, CC, C. Debt Rated BB, B, CCC, CC, and C is regarded, on balance, as predominantly speculative with respect to capacity to pay interest and repay principal in accordance with the terms of the obligation. BB indicates the lowest degree of speculation and C the highest degree of speculation. While such debt will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these are out-weighed by large uncertainties or major risk exposures to adverse conditions; BB. Debt rated BB has less nearterm vulnerability to default than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to inadequate capacity to meet timely interest and principal payments. The BB rating category is also used for debt subordinated to senior debt that is assigned an actual or implied BBB- rating; B. Debt rated B has a greater vulnerability to default but currently has the capacity to meet interest payments and principal repayments. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair capacity or willingness to pay interest and repay principal. The B rating category is also used for debt subordinated to senior debt that is assigned an actual or implied BB or BB- rating; CCC. Debt rated CCC has a currently identifiable vulnerability to default and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions to meet timely payment of interest and repayment of principal. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, it is not likely to have the capacity to pay interest and repay principal. The CCC rating category is also used for debt subordinated to senior debt that is assigned an actual or implied B or B- rating; CC. The rating CC is typically applied to debt subordinated to senior debt that is assigned an actual or implied CCC rating; C. The rating C is typically applied to debt subordinated to senior debt which is assigned an actual or implied CCC- debt rating. The C rating may be used to cover a situation where a bankruptcy petition has been filed, but debt service payments are continued; CI. The rating CI is reserved for income bonds on which no interest is being paid; D. Debt rated D is in payment default. The D rating category is used when interest payments or principal payments are not made on the date due even if the applicable grace period has not expired, unless Standard & Poor's believes that such payments will be made during such grace period. The D rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition if debt service payments are jeopardized.

APPENDIX B DSS WEALTH MANAGEMENT, INC. PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

KEY OBJECTIVES

The key objectives of these policies and procedures recognize that a company's management is entrusted with the day-to-day operations and longer term strategic planning of the company, subject to the oversight of the company's board of directors. While "ordinary business matters" are primarily the responsibility of management and should be approved solely by the corporation's board of directors, these objectives also recognize that the company's shareholders must have final say over how management and directors are performing, and how shareholders' rights and ownership interests are handled, especially when matters could have substantial economic implications to the shareholders.

Therefore, we will pay particular attention to the following matters in exercising our proxy voting responsibilities as a fiduciary for our clients:

Accountability. Each company should have effective means in place to hold those entrusted with running a company's business accountable for their actions. Management of a company should be accountable to its board of directors and the board should be accountable to shareholders.

Alignment of Management and Shareholder Interests. Each company should endeavor to align the interests of management and the board of directors with the interests of the company's shareholders. For example, we generally believe that compensation should be designed to reward management for doing a good job of creating value for the shareholders of the company.

Transparency. Promotion of timely disclosure of important information about a company's business operations and financial performance enables investors to evaluate the performance of a company and to make informed decisions about the purchase and sale of a company's securities.

DECISION METHODS

No set of proxy voting guidelines can anticipate all situations that may arise. In special cases, we may seek insight from our managers and analysts on how a particular proxy proposal may impact the financial prospects of a company, and vote accordingly.

We believe that we invest in companies with strong management. Therefore we will tend to vote proxies consistent with management's recommendations. However, we will vote contrary to management's recommendations if we believe those recommendations are not consistent with increasing shareholder value.

SUMMARY OF PROXY VOTING GUIDELINES

Election of the Board of Directors

We believe that good corporate governance generally starts with a board composed primarily of independent directors, unfettered by significant ties to management, all of whose members are elected annually. We also believe that turnover in board composition promotes independent board action, fresh approaches to governance, and generally has a positive impact on shareholder value. We will generally vote in favor of non-incumbent independent directors.

The election of a company's board of directors is one of the most fundamental rights held by shareholders. Because a classified board structure prevents shareholders from electing a full slate of directors annually, we will generally support efforts to declassify boards or other measures that permit shareholders to remove a majority of directors at any time, and will generally oppose efforts to adopt classified board structures.

Approval of Independent Auditors

We believe that the relationship between a company and its auditors should be limited primarily to the audit engagement, although it may include certain closely related activities that do not raise an appearance of impaired independence.

We will evaluate on a case-by-case basis instances in which the audit firm has a substantial non-audit relationship with a company to determine whether we believe independence has been, or could be, compromised.

Equity-based compensation plans

We believe that appropriately designed equity-based compensation plans, approved by shareholders, can be an effective way to align the interests of shareholders and the interests of directors, management, and employees by providing incentives to increase shareholder value. Conversely, we are opposed to plans that substantially dilute ownership interests in the company, provide participants with excessive awards, or have inherently objectionable structural features.

We will generally support measures intended to increase stock ownership by executives and the use of employee stock purchase plans to increase company stock ownership by employees. These may include:

- 1. Requiring senior executives to hold stock in a company.
- 2. Requiring stock acquired through option exercise to be held for a certain period of time.

These are guidelines, and we consider other factors, such as the nature of the industry and size of the company, when assessing a plan's impact on ownership interests.

Corporate Structure

We view the exercise of shareholders' rights, including the rights to act by written consent, to call special meetings and to remove directors, to be fundamental to good corporate governance.

Because classes of common stock with unequal voting rights limit the rights of certain shareholders, we generally believe that shareholders should have voting power equal to their equity interest in the company and should be able to approve or reject changes to a company's by-laws by a simple majority vote.

We will generally support the ability of shareholders to cumulate their votes for the election of directors.

Shareholder Rights Plans

While we recognize that there are arguments both in favor of and against shareholder rights plans, also known as poison pills, such measures may tend to entrench current management, which we generally consider to have a negative impact on shareholder value. Therefore, while we will evaluate such plans on a case by case basis, we will generally oppose such plans.